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Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of FUJIFILM Holdings 
Corporation (“the Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group") 
provided in the “Financial Information” section in the company’s Annual Report, which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2020 and the consolidated statement of income, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, and supplementary schedules, in accordance with Article 193-2, Paragraph 1 of the Financial 
Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2020, and its consolidated financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America pursuant to Paragraph 3 of the Supplementary Provisions of the 
Cabinet Office Ordinance for Partial Amendment of the Regulations for Terminology, Forms and 
Preparation Methods of Consolidated Financial Statements (the Cabinet Office Ordinance No.11 of 
2002). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
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accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Japan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Corporate auditors and the board of corporate auditors for 
the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Corporate auditors and the board of corporate auditors are responsible for overseeing the directors’ 
performance of their duties including the implementation and maintenance of the Group’s financial 
reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audit from an 
independent point of view. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

In accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit process to perform the following:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. The procedures selected depend on our 
judgement, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, while the objective of the audit is not to express an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate whether the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements are in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the 
overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
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disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with corporate auditors and the board of corporate auditors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide corporate auditors and the board of corporate auditors with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements in Japan regarding independence, and communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards in order to eliminate or reduce obstruction factors. 

 

Interest in the company 

Our firm and its designated engagement partners do not have any interest in the Company and its 
subsidiaries which are required to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of the Certified Public 
Accountants Act of Japan. 

 

Notes to the reader of audit report: 

The Independent Auditor’s Report herein is the English translation of the Independent Auditor’s Report 
on the Consolidated Financial Statements as required by the Article 193-2, Paragraph 1 of the Financial 
Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (“the FIEAJ”) and does not include the English translation of the 
Independent Auditor’s Report on the internal control audits as required by the Article 193-2, Paragraph 2 
of the FIEAJ.  

FUJI FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation states that internal control over financial reporting was effective 
as at March 31, 2020 in the Internal Control Report.
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FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
 
 
 March 31 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) ¥  396,091 ¥  654,747 $  3,633,862 
Notes and accounts receivable:    

Trade (Notes 21 and 22) 524,120 580,423 4,808,441 
Lease receivables (Note 5) 55,419 58,857 508,431 
Affiliated companies 2,640 5,634 24,220 
Allowance for doubtful receivables (Notes 5 and 21) (23,761) (27,119) (217,991) 

Inventories (Note 7) 380,911 374,456 3,494,596 
Prepaid expenses and other (Notes 18, 19, 20 and 22) 153,783 83,908 1,410,853 

Total current assets 1,489,203 1,730,906 13,662,412 

Investments and long-term receivables:    
Investments in and advances to affiliated companies 

(Note 8) 27,770 33,445 254,771 
Investment securities (Notes 4 and 20) 87,209 105,678 800,083 
Long-term lease receivables (Note 5) 61,724 72,814 566,275 
Other long-term receivables (Notes 18, 19, 20 and 21) 30,497 31,509 279,789 
Allowance for doubtful receivables (Notes 5 and 21) (4,067) (3,754) (37,312) 

Total investments and long-term receivables 203,133 239,692 1,863,606 

Property, plant and equipment:    
Land 96,776 98,211 887,853 
Buildings and structures 732,716 690,207 6,722,165 
Machinery, equipment and other 1,478,270 1,447,115 13,562,110 
Construction in progress 47,481 36,420 435,606 

Subtotal 2,355,243 2,271,953 21,607,734 
Less accumulated depreciation (1,754,696) (1,745,156) (16,098,128) 

Total property, plant and equipment 600,547 526,797 5,509,606 

Other assets:    
Operating lease right-of-use assets (Notes 2 and 6) 75,261 – 690,468 
Goodwill, net (Notes 9 and 23) 687,155 655,508 6,304,174 
Other intangible assets, net (Notes 9 and 23) 142,071 145,013 1,303,404 
Deferred income taxes (Note 12) 37,811 32,762 346,890 
Other (Notes 11 and 22) 86,511 84,014 793,679 

Total other assets 1,028,809 917,297 9,438,615 
Total assets ¥3,321,692 ¥3,414,692 $  30,474,239 
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FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 

Consolidated Balance Sheets (continued) 
 
 
 March 31 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Liabilities and equity    
Current liabilities:    

Short-term debt (Notes 10 and 19) ¥  120,998 ¥  170,579 $  1,110,073 
Notes and accounts payable:    

Trade 195,214 210,658 1,790,954 
Construction  25,360 25,758 232,661 
Affiliated companies 1,724 1,940 15,817 

Accrued income taxes (Note 12) 24,893 18,950 228,376 
Accrued liabilities (Notes 11 and 24) 171,989 182,833 1,577,881 
Short-term operating lease liabilities (Notes 2 and 6) 25,696 – 235,743 
Other current liabilities (Notes 18, 19, 20 and 22) 94,133 91,567 863,605 

Total current liabilities 660,007 702,285 6,055,110 
Non-current liabilities:    

Long-term debt (Notes 10 and 19) 503,171 353,533 4,616,248 
Accrued pension and severance costs (Note 11) 33,818 40,335 310,257 
Long-term operating lease liabilities (Notes 2 and 6) 52,652 - 483,046 
Deferred income taxes (Note 12) 21,558 19,959 197,780 
Other non-current liabilities 

(Notes 12, 18, 19, 20 and 22) 
 

56,729 
 

53,739 520,449 
Total non-current liabilities 667,928 467,566 6,127,780 
Total liabilities 1,327,935 1,169,851 12,182,890 

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 15)    
 
Equity (Note 13):    
FUJIFILM Holdings shareholders’ equity:    

Common stock, without par value:    
Authorized: 800,000,000 shares    
Issued: 514,625,728 shares 40,363 40,363 370,303 

Additional paid-in capital – 24,494 – 
Retained earnings 2,563,091 2,507,719 23,514,596 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 

(Notes 11, 14 and 18) (164,100) (100,593) (1,505,505) 
Treasury stock, at cost (114,914,288 shares in 2020; 

105,340,377 shares in 2019) 
 

(486,102) 
 

(435,020) (4,459,651) 
Total FUJIFILM Holdings shareholders’ equity 1,953,252 2,036,963 17,919,743 
Noncontrolling interests 40,505 207,878 371,606 
Total equity 1,993,757 2,244,841 18,291,349 
Total liabilities and equity ¥3,321,692 ¥3,414,692 $30,474,239 
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FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 

Consolidated Statements of Income 
 
 
 Year ended March 31 
 2020 2019 2020 

 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Revenue (Notes 2 and 22) ¥2,315,141 ¥2,431,489 $21,239,826 
Cost of sales (Notes 2, 22 and 24) 1,360,648 1,433,973 12,483,009 
Gross profit 954,493 997,516 8,756,817 
Operating expenses:    

Selling, general and administrative (Notes 2, 17 and 24) 610,043 631,557 5,596,725 
Research and development 157,880 156,132 1,448,441 
 767,923 787,689 7,045,166 

Operating income  186,570 209,827 1,711,651 
Other income (expenses):    

Interest and dividend income 5,183 4,787 47,550 
Interest expense (2,316) (3,314) (21,248) 
Foreign exchange gains (losses), net (Notes 14 and 18) (2,133) (2,919) (19,569) 
Gains (losses) on equity securities, net (Notes 2, 4 and 14) (22,084) (244) (202,605) 
Other, net (Notes 2, 14 and 18) 7,851 4,625 72,028 

 (13,499) 2,935 (123,844) 
Income before income taxes 173,071 212,762 1,587,807 
Income taxes (Note 12):    

Current 42,822 43,697 392,862 
Deferred (6,708) 12,359 (61,541) 

 36,114 56,056 331,321 
Equity in net income (loss) of affiliated companies 1,341 418 12,303 
Net income 138,298 157,124 1,268,789 
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (13,311) (19,018) (122,119) 
Net income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings ¥  124,987 ¥  138,106 $ 1,146,670 
 

(Yen) 
(U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Amounts per share of common stock:    

Net income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings 
(Note 16): 

   

Basic ¥306.18 ¥326.81 $2.81 
Diluted 305.22 325.82 2.80 

Cash dividends declared 95.00 80.00 0.87 
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FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
 
 
 Year ended March 31 
 2020 2019 2020 

 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Net income ¥138,298 ¥157,124 $1,268,789 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (Note 14):    

Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities (9) (2) (83) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments (50,279) 6,322 (461,275) 
Pension liability adjustments 142 885 1,303 
Net unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives 137 188 1,257 
Total (50,009) 7,393 (458,798) 

Comprehensive income 88,289 164,517 809,991 
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling 

interests 
 

(8,800) 
 

(20,245) 
 

(80,734) 
Comprehensive income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings ¥ 79,489 ¥144,272 $  729,257 
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FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

 

 
Common 

stock 

Additional 
paid-in 
capital 

Retained 
earnings 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) 

Treasury 
stock 

FUJIFILM 
Holdings 

shareholders’ 
equity 

Noncontrolling 
interests 

Total 
equity 

 (Millions of yen) 
Balance as of April 1, 2018 ¥40,363 ¥79,153 ¥2,383,793 ¥ (87,783) ¥(336,392) ¥2,079,134 ¥219,572 ¥2,298,706 
Cumulative effect of adoption of 

Accounting Standards Update 
2016-01 – – 18,976 (18,976) – – – – 

Cumulative effect of adoption of 
Accounting Standards Update 
2016-16 – – 296 – – 296 99 395 

Comprehensive income (loss):         
Net income – – 138,106 – – 138,106 19,018 157,124 
Net unrealized gains (losses) on 

securities (Note 14) – – – (2) – (2) – (2) 
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments (Note 14) – – – 5,898 – 5,898 424 6,322 
Pension liability adjustments 

(Note 14) – – – 
 

61 – 
 

61 
 

824 
 

885 
Net unrealized gains (losses) on 

derivatives (Notes 14 and 18) – – – 
 

209 – 
 

209 
 

(21) 
 

188 
Comprehensive income      144,272 20,245 164,517 

Purchases of treasury stock – – – – (100,018) (100,018) – (100,018) 
Sales of treasury stock – (212) (49) – 1,390 1,129 – 1,129 
Dividends paid to FUJIFILM Holdings 

shareholders  – – (33,403) – – (33,403) – (33,403) 
Dividends paid to noncontrolling 

interests – – – – – – (7,752) (7,752) 
Issuance of stock acquisition rights  – (70) – – – (70) – (70) 
Equity transactions with 

noncontrolling interests and other – (54,377) – – – (54,377) (24,286) (78,663) 

Balance as of March 31, 2019 ¥40,363 ¥24,494 ¥2,507,719 ¥(100,593) ¥(435,020) ¥2,036,963 ¥207,878 ¥2,244,841 
Comprehensive income (loss):         

Net income – – 124,987 – – 124,987 13,311 138,298 
Net unrealized gains (losses) on 

securities (Note 14) – – – (9) – (9) – (9) 
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments (Note 14) – – – (45,489) – (45,489) (4,790) (50,279) 
Pension liability adjustments 

(Note 14) – – – 
 

(122) – 
 

(122) 
 

264 
 

142 
Net unrealized gains (losses) on 

derivatives (Notes 14 and 18) – – – 
 

122 – 
 

122 
 

15 
 

137 
Comprehensive income      79,489 8,800 88,289 

Purchases of treasury stock – – – – (51,624) (51,624) – (51,624) 
Sales of treasury stock – – (113) – 542 429 – 429 
Dividends paid to FUJIFILM Holdings 

shareholders  – – (38,432) – – (38,432) – (38,432) 
Dividends paid to noncontrolling 

interests – – – – – – (9,813) (9,813) 
Issuance of stock acquisition rights  – 452 – – – 452 – 452 
Transfer from retained earnings to 

additional paid-in capital – 31,070 (31,070) – – – – – 
Equity transactions with 

noncontrolling interests and other – (56,016) – (18,009) – (74,025) (166,360) (240,385) 

Balance as of March 31, 2020 ¥40,363 ¥    – ¥2,563,091 ¥(164,100) ¥(486,102) ¥1,953,252 ¥ 40,505 ¥1,993,757 
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FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (continued) 

 

 
Common 

stock 

Additional 
paid-in 
capital 

Retained 
earnings 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) 

Treasury 
stock 

FUJIFILM 
Holdings 

shareholders’ 
equity 

Noncontrolling 
interests 

Total 
equity 

 (Thousands of U.S. dollars)  
(Note 3) 

Balance as of March 31, 2019 $370,303 $224,716 $23,006,596 $ (922,872) $(3,991,009) $18,687,734 $ 1,907,138 $20,594,872 
Comprehensive income (loss):         

Net income – – 1,146,670 – – 1,146,670 122,119 1,268,789 
Net unrealized gains (losses) on 

securities (Note 14) – – – (83) – (83) – (83) 
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments (Note 14) – – – (417,330) – (417,330) (43,945) (461,275) 
Pension liability adjustments 

(Note 14) – – – (1,119) – (1,119) 2,422 1,303 
Net unrealized gains (losses) on 

derivatives (Notes 14 and 18) – – – 1,119  – 1,119 138 1,257 
Comprehensive income      729,257 80,734 809,991 

Purchases of treasury stock – – – – (473,615) (473,615) – (473,615) 
Sales of treasury stock – – (1,037) – 4,973 3,936 – 3,936 
Dividends paid to FUJIFILM Holdings 

shareholders  – – (352,587) – – (352,587) – (352,587) 
Dividends paid to noncontrolling 

interests – – – – – – (90,027) (90,027) 
Issuance of stock acquisition rights  – 4,146 – – – 4,146 – 4,146 
Transfer from retained earnings to 

additional paid-in capital – 285,046 (285,046) – – – – – 
Equity transactions with 

noncontrolling interests and other  
 

– 
 

(513,908) 
 

– 
 

(165,220) 
 

– 
 

(679,128) 
 

(1,526,239) 
 

(2,205,367) 

Balance as of March 31, 2020 $370,303 $     – $23,514,596 $(1,505,505) $(4,459,651) $17,919,743 $  371,606 $18,291,349 
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FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

 

 
 Year ended March 31 
 2020 2019 2020 

 

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Operating activities    
Net income ¥ 138,298 ¥ 157,124 $1,268,789 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 
activities:    
Depreciation and amortization 122,653 129,932 1,125,257 
(Gains) losses on equity securities, net 22,085 244 202,615 
Deferred income taxes (6,708) 12,359 (61,541) 
Equity in net (gains) losses of affiliated companies, net of dividends 
received (13) 4,719 (119) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
Decrease in notes and accounts receivable 53,277 4,885 488,780  
Increase in inventories (11,505) (12,287) (105,551) 
Decrease in notes and accounts payable – trade (10,558) (12,469) (96,862) 
Decrease in accrued income taxes and other liabilities (16,055) (80,408) (147,294) 

Other (35,807) 45,244 (328,505) 
Net cash provided by operating activities 255,667 249,343 2,345,569  
Investing activities    
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (84,677) (68,549) (776,853) 
Purchases of software (25,047) (20,471) (229,789) 
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investment securities 151 2,545 1,385  
Purchases of investment securities (3,230) (23,349) (29,633) 
Increase in time deposits, net (10) (3,630) (92) 
Increase in investments in and advances to affiliated companies and 
other advances (1,501) (10,456) (13,771) 

Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired (Note 23) (121,789) (84,310) (1,117,330) 
Other (8,747) (365) (80,248) 
Net cash used in investing activities (244,850) (208,585) (2,246,331) 
Financing activities    
Proceeds from long-term debt 200,669 100,035 1,841,000  
Repayments of long-term debt (163,541) (25,947) (1,500,376) 
Increase (decrease) in short-term debt with maturities of three months or 
less, net 390 (8,123) 3,578  

Proceeds from short-term debt with maturities longer than three months 150,000 – 1,376,147  
Repayments of short-term debt with maturities longer than three months (100,000) – (917,431) 
Cash dividends paid to shareholders (35,817) (33,166) (328,596) 
Cash dividends paid to noncontrolling interests (9,813) (7,752) (90,028) 
Net purchases of treasury stock (51,624) (100,018) (473,615) 
Equity transactions with noncontrolling interests and other (241,207) (78,551) (2,212,908) 
Net cash used in financing activities (250,943) (153,522) (2,302,229) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (18,530) (735) (170,000) 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (258,656) (113,499) (2,372,991) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 654,747 768,246 6,006,853  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ¥ 396,091 ¥ 654,747 $3,633,862 
    
Supplemental disclosures    

Cash paid for interest ¥2,893 ¥4,261   $26,541 
Cash paid for income taxes 106,929 50,903 981,000 
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FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

March 31, 2020 
 
 
1.  Nature of Operations 
 
FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) is engaged in imaging, healthcare & 
material, and document solutions businesses. “Imaging Solutions” develops, manufactures, 
markets and provides services of color films, digital cameras, color paper, services and 
equipment for photofinishing, instant photo systems, optical devices, and other related 
products. “Healthcare & Material Solutions” develops, manufactures, markets and provides 
services of equipment and materials for medical systems, cosmetics and supplements, 
pharmaceuticals, contract development and manufacturing organization of 
biopharmaceuticals, regenerative medicine, fine chemicals, equipment and materials for 
graphic arts, inks and industrial inkjet printheads, display materials, recording media, 
electronic materials, and other related products. “Document Solutions” develops, 
manufactures, markets and provides services of digital MFPs, production systems, 
document management software and related solution services, and other related products. 
The Company operates throughout the world, and the overseas revenue consists of 
approximately 57% of its Company’s total revenue, predominantly in North America, 
Europe and Asia. The Company’s principal manufacturing operations are located in Japan, 
the United States, China, the Netherlands and Vietnam. 
 
 
2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) 
(the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) issued by the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (“FASB”)). 
 
The Company has prepared its consolidated financial statements in pursuant to US GAAP 
according to the agreement concerning the issuance of Euro-dollar denominated bonds in 
1970. The Company’s listing of American Depositary Receipts listed on the NASDAQ 
since 1971 were abolished on July 31, 2009. Nevertheless, the Company continues to 
prepare and disclose its consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP. 
 
The main differences between the principles and procedures of the presentation 
methodology between the generally accepted accounting principles in Japan and US GAAP 
are summarized as follows: 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

(1) In accordance with ASC 715, net periodic benefit costs are recorded based on 
actuarial calculations. Using the corridor approach, actuarial gains and losses are 
amortized over the average remaining years of service of the employee. 

(2) In accordance with ASC 350, goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets 
are not amortized. Instead, they are tested annually for impairment and impaired if 
necessary. 

(3) In accordance with ASC 842, operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are 
recorded using the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. A lease 
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
Principles of Consolidation and Accounting for Investments in Affiliated Companies 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and entities that 
the Company directly or indirectly controls. All significant intercompany transactions and 
accounts have been eliminated. 
 
The Company’s investments in affiliated companies (generally 20% to 50% owned companies), 
in which the ability to exercise significant influence exists, are accounted for by the equity 
method. Consolidated net income includes the Company’s equity in the current net earnings 
or losses of such companies after the elimination of unrealized intercompany profits. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management 
to make assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and notes. 
 
Significant items subject to such assumptions and estimates include the valuation of notes 
and accounts receivables, inventories, investment securities and deferred income tax assets; 
the valuation (including impairment) and determination of useful lives and depreciation or 
amortization method for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, uncertain tax 
positions, assumptions related to the estimation of actuarially determined employee benefit 
obligations and accruals or contingent liabilities for environmental remediation, litigation 
and regulatory investigations. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
It is extremely difficult to predict the future impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s results 
of operations since there is no unified view of how COVID-19 will spread in the future and 
when this pandemic will end. The Company has made an accounting estimate using certain 
assumptions that the impact of COVID-19 will continue for a certain period during the next 
fiscal year to make a best estimate. 
 
The impact of COVID-19 on the economic activity is highly uncertain. Any changes in the 
above assumptions may, in no small degree, have an impact on the Company’s financial 
position and results of operations. 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Foreign Currency Translations 
 
The Company’s foreign subsidiaries generally use the local currency as their functional 
currency. Accordingly, assets and liabilities are translated into the reporting currency using 
exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date and income and expenses are translated 
using average exchange rates prevailing during the year. Gains and losses resulting from 
translation are included and presented in “Accumulated other comprehensive income 
(loss)”, a separate component of equity, as foreign currency translation adjustments. 
 
Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are 
remeasured into the functional currency using exchange rates in effect at the respective 
balance sheet dates with the resulting gains or losses included in earnings.  
 
Cash Equivalents 
 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into cash 
and that have original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.  
 
Certain debt securities with original maturities of three months or less are included in “Cash 
and cash equivalents” in the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of 
cash flows. There are no such securities as of March 31, 2020. The aggregate fair values of 
these securities were ¥233,801 million as of March 31, 2019. 
 
Investment Securities 
 
Of investment securities, equity securities are measured at fair value and unrealized gains 
or losses before adjusting net-of-tax amount are included and presented in “Gains (losses) 
on equity securities, net” in consolidated statements of income. Non-marketable equity 
securities without readily determinable fair value at cost are measured, minus impairment, 
if any, plus or minus changes resulting from observables price changes in orderly 
transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same issuer. Regarding debt 
securities in investment securities, the Company separates an impairment loss for debt 
securities into the amount related to credit loss, which is recognized in earnings, and the 
amount related to all other factors, which is included and presented in “Accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss)” when a decline in the value is deemed to be 
other-than-temporary. In determining whether such decline of debt securities is 
other-than-temporary, the Company also evaluates various factors including the Company’s 
intent to sell the securities, the available evidence to assess whether it is more likely than 
not that the Company will be required to sell the security as well as the available evidence 
to assess whether the entire amortized cost basis of the security will be recovered. The cost 
of investment securities sold is based on the moving-average-cost method. Dividends are 
included in “Interest and dividend income” in the consolidated statements of income. 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Allowance for Doubtful Receivables 
 
Allowances for doubtful trade, lease and other receivables are determined based on a 
combination of historical experience, aging analysis and any specific factors affecting 
customer accounts. Uncollectible receivables are charged-off when legal actions have been 
taken to collect the receivable, and it becomes clear that the receivables will be 
uncollectable according to a decision of court. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market with cost being determined principally 
by the moving-average method. The Company reviews inventories for obsolete, slow-moving 
or excess amounts and if required, provides an allowance to recognize their estimated net 
realizable values. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation 
 
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation is computed primarily using 
the straight-line method. 
 
Estimated useful lives for buildings and structures are primarily 15 to 50 years and for 
machinery, equipment and other are 2 to 15 years. 
 
Machinery, equipment and other includes machines rented to customers under operating 
leases with a cost and accumulated depreciation of ¥56,065 million ($514,358 thousand) 
and ¥32,356 million ($296,844 thousand) as of March 31, 2020 and ¥40,173 million and 
¥32,444 million as of March 31, 2019, respectively. 
 
Net gains on sales of property, plant and equipment were ¥323 million ($2,963 thousand) 
and ¥3,545 million for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Leases 
 
As for lessor accounting, the Company provides leasing arrangements primarily for the 
sales of printing and copying machines and other office equipment. At the inception date of 
a lease, the Company determines whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. Sales-type lease 
and operating lease revenues are recorded, and presented and included in “Revenue” in the 
consolidated statements of income. Revenue from the sales of equipment under sales-type 
leases is recognized at the commencement of leases. Interest income equivalent on the 
sales-type leases is recognized using the effective interest method with the allocation based 
on the net investment in outstanding leases. Leases not qualifying as sales-type leases are 
accounted for as operating leases and related revenue is recognized ratably over the 
respective lease term. For contracts bundling equipment leases with maintenance and other 
services, the Company has applied the practical expedients permitted under ASC 842 and 
these contracts are all accounted for as lease components in accordance with ASC 842. 
Normally, these contracts combine the minimum usage fees and variable charges according 
to print runs. Some of the contracts include options to terminate the lease before the end of 
the lease term by giving notice to the lessor before a certain period. 
 
As for lessee accounting, the Company has finance and operating leases for assets including 
office buildings and vehicles. At the inception date of a lease, the Company determines 
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease, and recognizes right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities on the commencement date of the lease. Some of the lease contracts include 
options to extend the lease term or terminate the lease. The Company takes into accounts 
the respective period of such options to determine the lease term when it is reasonably 
certain that it will exercise these options. The Company has lease contracts with lease and 
non-lease components, which are normally accounted for separately. Since most of the 
Company’s leases do not provide a rate implicit, the Company normally uses incremental 
borrowing rate based on the information available at the lease commencement to determine 
the present value of total lease payments. For short-term leases with a lease term of 12 
months or less, the Company elects not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. 
The lease payments associated with these leases are recognized as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
 
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets 
acquired. Other intangible assets principally consist of costs allocated to technology-based 
intangibles and customer-related intangibles. 
 
Under ASC 350, goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets are tested annually for 
impairment. Impairment tests for goodwill are performed based on the fair value of 
estimated future cash flows of each reporting unit. The discount rate used is based on the 
reporting unit’s weighted average cost of capital. In addition to the annual impairment test, 
which the Company performs as of January 1, an interim test for goodwill impairment 
would be performed if events occur or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
not be recoverable.  
 
Intangible assets other than those with an indefinite life are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives.  
 
Capitalized Software Costs 
 
The Company capitalizes certain costs incurred in connection with developing and 
obtaining internal use software in accordance with ASC 350-40. These costs consist 
primarily of payments made to third parties and salaries of employees working on such 
software development. In connection with developing internal use software, costs incurred 
at the application development stage or later are capitalized. In addition, the Company 
develops or obtains certain software to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed where related 
costs incurred after establishment of technological feasibility are capitalized in accordance 
with ASC 985. Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of the software of 3 to 5 years. Costs and accumulated amortization of total 
capitalized software amounted to ¥153,515 million ($1,408,394 thousand) and ¥95,400 
million ($875,229 thousand), respectively, as of March 31, 2020 and ¥150,199 million and 
¥95,326 million, respectively, as of March 31, 2019. Costs and accumulated amortization of 
capitalized software to be sold, included in the above, amounted to ¥31,860 million 
($292,294 thousand) and ¥20,696 million ($189,872 thousand), respectively, as of March 
31, 2020 and ¥32,348 million and ¥21,651 million, respectively, as of March 31, 2019. 
Capitalized software costs are included in “Other” of other assets in the consolidated 
balance sheets. 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Impairment of Long-lived Assets 
 
The Company reviews long-lived assets, excluding goodwill and other indefinite lived 
intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances 
indicate the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. If an evaluation is 
required, the estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with the assets would be 
compared to the assets’ carrying amount to determine if a write-down is required. If this 
evaluation indicates that the carrying value of the asset exceeds the sum of the 
undiscounted future cash flows, the carrying value of the assets would be reduced to their 
estimated fair value. In determining the fair value, the Company uses quoted market prices 
in active markets or other valuation methods. If quoted market prices are unavailable, the 
Company primarily uses the discounted cash flow method based on the estimated 
discounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets and their eventual 
disposition, the relief from royalty method or the excess earnings method.  
 
Long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale are recorded at the lower of carrying amount or 
fair value less cost to sell. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
In accordance with ASC 606, the Company recognizes revenue in the amount of 
consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the specified good or service 
transferred using the five step approach as follows. 
 
Step 1: Identify the contract 
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
Step 3: Determine the transaction price 
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations 
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied 
 
Product Warranties 
 
The Company provides product warranties for certain of its products. These warranties 
generally extend for a period of one year from the date of sale. A liability for expected 
warranty costs is accrued at the time that the related revenue is recognized. In estimating 
the warranty liability, historical experience is considered. 
 
Shipping and Handling Costs 
 
Shipping and handling costs of ¥56,433 million ($517,734 thousand) and ¥58,146 million 
for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, are included in “Selling, general 
and administrative” in the consolidated statements of income. 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Advertising Costs 
 
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and included in “Selling, general and 
administrative” in the consolidated statements of income. Advertising costs amounted to 
¥23,121 million ($212,119 thousand) and ¥25,915 million for the years ended March 31, 
2020 and 2019, respectively.  
 
Income Taxes 
 
Income taxes have been provided using the liability method in accordance with ASC 740.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the 
financial reporting and the tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the 
enacted tax rates and laws which will be in effect when the differences are expected to 
reverse. A valuation allowance is recognized to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amount 
that is considered more likely than not to be realized. 
 
The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more 
likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing 
authorities in accordance with ASC 740. Recognized tax positions are measured at the 
largest amount of benefit which is more-likely-than-not to be realized upon ultimate 
settlement. 
 
Consumption Taxes 
 
Revenues, costs and expenses in the consolidated statements of income do not include 
consumption taxes. 
 
Derivative Financial Instruments 
 
The Company recognizes all derivative financial instruments, such as forward foreign 
exchange contracts, currency swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps and interest rate 
swaps in the consolidated financial statements at fair value regardless of the purpose or 
intent for holding the instrument. Generally, changes in fair values of derivatives accounted 
for as fair value hedges are recorded in earnings along with the portions of the changes in 
the fair values of the hedged items that relate to the hedged risks. Changes in fair values of 
derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges, to the extent they are effective as hedges, are 
recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), net of deferred taxes and reclassified to 
earnings in the period when the gain or loss associated with the hedged item was recorded. 
Changes in fair values of derivatives, which are not designated or qualified as hedges, are 
reported in earnings, immediately. 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Net Income Attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings per Share 
 
Basic net income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings per share is calculated based on the 
weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year. 
 
Diluted net income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings per share is adjusted for the effect 
of dilutive common stocks to be additionally issued when stock options are exercised.  
 
Stock-Based Compensation 
 
The Company measures stock-based compensation cost based on fair value of the options 
on the grant date and recognizes stock-based compensation cost in accordance with ASC 
718. 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
The Company evaluated all subsequent events through June 29, 2020, the date on which the 
financial statements are available to be issued in accordance with ASC 855.  
 
Reclassifications 
 
Certain reclassifications to the prior year’s consolidated financial statements and related 
footnote amounts have been made to conform with current year presentation. 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Accounting Standards Adopted in the Year Ended March 31, 2020 
 
In February 2016, FASB issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, 
“Leases” (“ASU 2016-02”). ASU 2016-02 creates ASC 842 and supersedes ASC 840. ASU 
2016-02 requires lessees to recognize lease liabilities and right-of-use assets on the balance 
sheets. ASU 2016-02 also requires disclosing qualitative and quantitative information about 
leases. ASU 2016-02 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 
2018, including interim periods within that reporting period, and earlier adoption is 
permitted. ASU 2016-02 was adopted by the Company from the year beginning April 1, 
2019. In adopting this standard, the Company applied a method of recognizing the 
cumulative effect of the adoption of this standard at the date of initial adoption, which is 
recognized as a transitional measure. As a result, the figures in the year ended March 31, 
2019, as comparative information, have been reported in accordance with ASC 840 and not 
restated. 
 
The Company applies the following practical expedients: for contracts that already expired 
or existed on the date of initial adoption, it is not reevaluated whether they fall under leases, 
classification of the leases, or their initial direct costs, and for leasehold that already expired 
or existed on the date of initial adoption, it is not reevaluated whether the portion of the 
leasehold that has not been accounted for falls under a lease. 
 
New Accounting Standards to be Adopted 
 
In June 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses: 
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments” (“ASU 2016-13”). ASU 2016-13 
requires the use of the expected credit loss model instead of the incurred loss impairment 
model when assessing the impairment of financial instruments. In the expected credit loss 
model, an estimate of uncollectible contractual cash flow is recorded as an allowance. ASU 
2016-13 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2022, 
including interim periods within that reporting period, and earlier adoption is permitted. 
The Company will adopt ASU 2016-13 in the year beginning April 1, 2023. The Company 
is evaluating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2016-13 will have on its results of 
operations and financial position. 
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3.  U.S. Dollar Amounts 
 
Solely for the convenience of the reader and as a matter of arithmetical computation only, 
the 2020 amounts in the consolidated financial statements have been translated from 
Japanese yen into U.S. dollars at the rate of ¥109 = U.S.$1.00, the approximate exchange 
rate prevailing on March 31, 2020. The amounts shown in U.S. dollars are not intended to 
be computed in accordance with US GAAP for the translation of foreign currency amounts. 
The translation should not be construed as a representation that Japanese yen could be 
converted into U.S. dollars at this or any other rate. 
 
 
4.  Investments in Debt and Equity Securities 
 
The cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and estimated fair value of the debt 
categorized as available-for-sale securities by security type as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 
are summarized as follows. Certain debt securities with original maturities of three months 
or less are included in “Cash and cash equivalents” in the consolidated balance sheets and 
gross unrealized gains and gross unrealized losses for those securities were not material as 
of March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 
 2020 

 Cost 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 
Estimated 
fair value 

 (Millions of yen) 

Investment securities:     

Corporate debt securities ¥517 ¥– ¥(16) ¥501 
Total ¥517 ¥– ¥(16) ¥501 

 
 2019 

 Cost 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 
Estimated 
fair value 

 (Millions of yen) 

Investment securities:     

Corporate debt securities ¥570 ¥– ¥(4) ¥566 
Total ¥570 ¥– ¥(4) ¥566 
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4.  Investments in Debt and Equity Securities (continued) 
 
 
 2020 

 Cost 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 
Estimated 
fair value 

 (Thousands of U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Investment securities:     

Corporate debt securities $4,743 $– $(147) $4,596 
Total $4,743 $– $(147) $4,596 

 
The cost and estimated fair value of the debt securities categorized by maturity as of March 
31, 2020 are summarized as follows: 
 

 Cost 
Estimated 
fair value Cost 

Estimated 
fair value 

 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Within one year ¥  56 ¥  55 $  514 $  504 
After one year but 
within five years 

 
461 

 
446 

 
4,229 

 
4,092 

Total ¥517 ¥501 $4,743 $4,596 

 
Realized and unrealized gains or losses of equity securities included in investment 
securities on the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 are 
summarized as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Total gains (losses) of equity securities ¥(22,084) ¥(244) $(202,605) 
Less: Realized gains (losses) on sales of 
equity securities 

 
194 

 
(438) 

 
1,780 

Unrealized gains (losses) on equity 
securities held at end of year ¥(21,890) ¥(682) $(200,825) 

 
The aggregate cost of non-marketable equity securities accounted for under the cost method 
totaled ¥8,688 million ($79,706 thousand) and ¥7,148 million as of March 31, 2020 and 
2019, respectively. The Company did not record significant impairment or other 
adjustments for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
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5.  Lease Accounting for Lessor 
 
Lease revenue information as lessor for the year ended March 31, 2020 is as follows. Lease 
revenue is included and presented in “Revenue” in the consolidated statements of income. 
 

 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Sales-type lease revenue   
Income (loss) recognized on the 
commencement date ¥14,192 $130,202 

Interest income from lease receivables 9,127 83,734 
Total sales-type lease revenue 23,319 213,936 
Operating lease revenue 9,962 91,394 
Variable lease revenue 18,465 169,404 

 
Lease receivables mainly consist of the sales-type lease receivables on the Company’s 
printing and copying machines and other office equipment. The current portion of lease 
receivables and the portion due after one year are recorded in “Lease receivables” and 
“Long-term lease receivables” in the consolidated balance sheets, respectively. The 
components of lease receivables as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Lease receivables, gross ¥131,490 ¥146,769 $1,206,330 
Unearned income (14,347) (15,098) (131,624) 
Allowance for doubtful receivables (10,007) (10,359) (91,807) 
Lease receivables, net ¥107,136 ¥121,312 $   982,899 
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5.  Lease Accounting for Lessor (continued) 
 
The minimum lease payments receivable under the sales-type leases and operating leases 
for the next five years and thereafter as of March 31, 2020 are summarized as follows: 
 

 Sales-type 
leases 

Operating 
leases 

 (Millions of yen) 
Year ending March 31   

2021 ¥  60,641 ¥  8,197 
2022 38,638 6,021 
2023 19,663 3,984 
2024 9,565 2,782 
2025 2,743 1,203 
2026 and thereafter 240 7 
Total minimum lease payments receivable ¥131,490 ¥22,194 

 
 Sales-type 

leases 
Operating 

leases 
 (Thousands of U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Year ending March 31   

2021 $  556,339 $  75,202 
2022 354,477 55,239 
2023 180,395 36,550 
2024 87,752 25,523 
2025 25,165 11,037 
2026 and thereafter 2,202 64 
Total minimum lease payments receivable  $1,206,330 $203,615 
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6.  Lease Accounting for Lessee 
 
Consolidated statements of income information related to leases is as follows. Lease 
expense is included in “Cost of sales” and “Selling, general and administrative” in the 
consolidated statements of income. 
 
 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. 

dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Operating lease expense ¥32,928 $  302,092 
Short-term lease expense 3,636 33,358 
 
Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases is as follows. 
 
 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. 

dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Finance lease right-of-use assets   
Property, plant and equipment (cost) ¥10,834 $ 99,395 
Accumulated depreciation (4,318) (39,615) 

Property, plant and equipment 
(carrying amount) 

6,516 
 

59,780 
 

   
Finance lease liabilities   

Other current liabilities 2,190 20,092 
Other non-current liabilities 7,057 64,743 

Total finance lease liabilities 9,247 84,835 
 
Operating cash flows from operating leases for the year ended March 31, 2020 amounted to 
¥32,235 million ($295,734 thousand). Operating lease right-of-use assets acquired in 
exchange for lease liabilities amounted to ¥25,611 million ($234,963 thousand). 
 
Other information related to leases is as follows. 
 
 2020 
Weighted average remaining lease term  

Financing leases 8 years 
Operating leases 4 years 

  
Weighted average discount rate  

Financing leases 2.06% 
Operating leases 0.48% 
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6.  Lease Accounting for Lessee (continued) 
 
Future minimum lease payments payable on financing and operating leases as of March 31, 
2020 are presented below by fiscal year. 
 

 Finance  
leases 

Operating 
leases 

 (Millions of yen) 
Year ending March 31   

2021 ¥  2,355 ¥  25,836 
2022 2,126 17,067 
2023 1,404 12,157 
2024 960 9,521 
2025 652 6,943 
2026 and thereafter 3,235 7,262 
Total lease payments 10,732 78,786 
Less: Imputed interest (1,485) (438) 
Total  ¥  9,247 ¥  78,348 

 
 Finance  

leases 
Operating 

leases 
 (Thousands of U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Year ending March 31   

2021 $21,605 $237,027 
2022 19,505 156,578 
2023 12,881 111,532 
2024 8,807 87,349 
2025 5,982 63,697 
2026 and thereafter 29,679 66,624 
Total lease payments 98,459 722,807 
Less: Imputed interest (13,624) (4,018) 
Total  $84,835 $718,789 
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7.  Inventories 
 
Inventories as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following: 
 

 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Finished goods ¥221,607 ¥224,263 $2,033,092 
Work in process 48,188 52,019 442,091 
Raw materials and supplies 111,116 98,174 1,019,413 
Total ¥380,911 ¥374,456 $3,494,596 

 
 
8.  Investments in Affiliated Companies 
 
Investments in affiliated companies accounted for by the equity method amounted to 
¥23,938 million ($219,615 thousand) and ¥29,902 million as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. The difference between the carrying value of the investments in affiliate 
companies and the Company’s equity in the underlying net assets of such affiliate 
companies was not material. These affiliated companies primarily operate in the Imaging 
Solutions, Healthcare & Material Solutions and Document Solutions businesses. 
 
Some affiliated companies are listed on the stock market. The carrying amounts and market 
values of these affiliated companies as of March 31, 2020 were ¥8,232 million ($75,523 
thousand) and ¥5,085 million ($46,651 thousand), respectively. As of March 31, 2019, they 
amounted to ¥9,232 million and ¥20,001 million, respectively. 
 
The combined financial position of the Company’s affiliated companies accounted for by 
the equity method as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 are summarized below. There were no 
individually material affiliated companies for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 

 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Current assets ¥  75,813 ¥103,635 $  695,532 
Non-current assets 63,349 62,910 581,184 
Total assets ¥139,162 ¥166,545 $1,276,716 

Current liabilities ¥  31,248 ¥  48,932 $  286,679 
Non-current liabilities 81,183 75,555 744,798 
Equity 26,731 42,058 245,239 
Total liabilities and equity ¥139,162 ¥166,545 $1,276,716 
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8.  Investments in Affiliated Companies (continued) 
 
The combined results of operations of the Company’s affiliated companies accounted for 
by the equity method for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are summarized as 
follows: 
 

 2020 2019 2020 

 
(Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Revenue ¥145,504 ¥153,580 $1,334,899 
Net income (loss) 1,646 (348) 15,101 

 
Transactions with affiliated companies for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are 
summarized as follows: 
 

 2020 2019 2020 

 
(Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Revenue ¥16,273 ¥24,914 $149,294 
Purchases 8,966 10,075 82,257 
Dividends received 1,328 5,137 12,183 

 
 
9.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
 
The changes in goodwill by operating segment for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 
2019 are as follows. 

 

Health & 
Material 
Solutions 

Document 
Solutions Total 

 (Millions of yen) 
As of March 31, 2018 ¥368,038 ¥223,530 ¥591,568 
Acquired 60,260 – 60,260 
Other 5,149 (1,469) 3,680 
As of March 31, 2019 433,447 222,061 655,508 
Acquired 31,864 12,002 43,866 
Other (6,107) (6,112) (12,219) 
As of March 31, 2020 ¥459,204 ¥227,951 ¥687,155 
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9.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (continued) 
 

 

Health & 
Material 
Solutions 

Document 
Solutions Total 

 
(Thousands of U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 

As of March 31, 2019 $3,976,578 $2,037,257 $6,013,835 
Acquired 292,330 110,110 402,440 
Other (56,028) (56,073) (112,101) 
As of March 31, 2020 $4,212,880 $2,091,294 $6,304,174 
 
Other includes foreign currency translation adjustments. 
There was no goodwill recognized in the Imaging Solutions segment for the years ended 
March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 
Other intangible assets subject to amortization as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as 
follows: 

 2020 
 Gross carrying 

amount 
Accumulated 
amortization 

Net carrying 
amount 

 (Millions of yen) 

Technology-based ¥  86,435 ¥45,282 ¥  41,153 
Customer-related 96,948 23,153 73,795 
Other 30,934 10,050 20,884 
Total ¥214,317 ¥78,485 ¥135,832 

 
 

 2019 
 Gross carrying 

amount 
Accumulated 
amortization 

Net carrying 
amount 

 (Millions of yen) 

Technology-based ¥  88,311 ¥40,720 ¥  47,591 
Customer-related 99,922 21,356 78,566 
Other 18,735 5,755 12,980 
Total ¥206,968 ¥67,831 ¥139,137 
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9.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (continued) 
 

 2020 
 Gross carrying 

amount 
Accumulated 
amortization 

Net carrying 
amount 

 (Thousands of U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Technology-based $   792,982 $415,431 $   377,551 
Customer-related 889,431 212,413 677,018 
Other 283,798 92,202 191,596 
Total $1,966,211 $720,046 $1,246,165 

 
The aggregate amortization expenses for other intangible assets for the years ended March 
31, 2020 and 2019 were ¥13,659 million ($125,312 thousand) and ¥13,141 million, 
respectively. 
 
Other intangible assets not subjected to amortization were not material as of March 31, 
2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
The estimated aggregate amortization expenses for other intangible assets subject to 
amortization for the next five years are as follows: 
 

 
(Millions of 

yen) 

(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Year ending March 31   

2021 ¥15,419 $141,459 
2022 13,488 123,743 
2023 13,097 120,156 
2024 10,959 100,541 
2025 10,704 98,202  
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10.  Short-term and Long-term Debt 
 
Short-term debt as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following: 
 

 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Short-term debt ¥  56,134 ¥   7,735 $  514,991 
Current portion of long-term debt 64,864 162,844 595,082 
Total ¥120,998 ¥170,579 $1,110,073 

 
The weighted average interest rates per annum on short-term debt outstanding as of March 
31, 2020 and 2019 were 0.18% and 1.68%, respectively. Short-term debt is unsecured. 
 
Long-term debt as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following: 
 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Unsecured loans, principally from banks and insurance 
companies: 
Due through the year ending March 31, 2034 with 

interest rates ranging from (0.591)% to 6.000% as of 
March 31, 2020 

Due through the year ending March 31, 2034 with 
interest rates ranging from (0.591)% to 6.000% as of 
March 31, 2019 

 
 

¥165,701 

 
 

¥184,919 

 
 

$1,520,193 
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10.  Short-term and Long-term Debt (continued) 
 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Unsecured Japanese yen bonds:    
0.515% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2020 ¥      – ¥30,000 $        – 
0.005% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2020 – 100,000 – 
0.030% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2021 15,000 15,000 137,615 
0.050% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2022 25,000 25,000 229,358 
0.080% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2022 30,000 30,000 275,229 
0.020% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2023 20,000 – 183,486 
0.882% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2023 40,000 40,000 366,972 
0.060% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2023 100,000 – 917,431 
0.110% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2024 35,000 35,000 321,101 
0.180% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2024 10,000 10,000 91,743 
0.080% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2025 30,000 – 275,229 
0.120% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2025 50,000 – 458,716 
0.240% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2026 25,000 25,000 229,358 
0.250% yen bonds, due the year ending March 31, 2027 10,000 10,000 91,743 
Other 12,334 11,458 113,156 

 568,035 516,377 5,211,330 
Less: Portion due within one year (64,864) (162,844) (595,082) 
Balance ¥503,171 ¥353,533 $4,616,248 
    
 
The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt for the next five years are as follows: 
 
  

(Millions of 
yen) 

(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Year ending March 31   

2021 ¥  64,864 $  595,083 
2022 58,219 534,119 
2023 202,089 1,854,028 
2024 93,621 858,908 
2025 80,744 740,771 

 
Certain bank loans are made under general agreements which provide that security and 
guarantees for present and future indebtedness will be provided upon request of the bank, 
and that the bank shall have the right to offset cash deposits against obligations that have 
become due or, in the event of default, against all obligations due to the bank. Certain 
long-term debt agreements with lenders other than banks also stipulate that the Company 
shall provide additional security upon request of the lender. 
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11.  Pension and Severance Plans 
 
Most employees of domestic subsidiaries of the Company who terminate their employment 
are entitled, under most circumstances, to lump-sum payments and/or pension payments 
calculated by reference to points earned during their service period. 
 
Certain subsidiaries have funded non-contributory defined benefit pension plans whose 
assets are maintained at trust banks and insurance companies and also have defined 
contribution pension plans. The funding policy for defined benefit pension plans is to make 
actuarially determined contributions to provide the plans with sufficient assets to meet 
future benefit payment requirements. Also, certain subsidiaries have defined contribution 
pension plans. The funding policy for such plans is to contribute annually an amount equal 
to a certain percentage of the participants’ annual salary. 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2019, plan amendments occurred related to the defined 
benefit pension plans of certain subsidiaries of the Company. In connection with these plan 
amendments, the projected benefit obligation decreased by ¥11,358 million. 
 
The amounts of net periodic benefit cost for defined contribution pension plans were 
¥13,433 million ($123,239 thousand) and ¥10,892 million for the years ended March 31, 
2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost 
 
Components of net periodic benefit cost for the defined benefit pension plans for the years 
ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 2020 2019 2020 

 

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 

Components of net periodic benefit cost:    
Service cost ¥ 18,771 ¥ 23,062 $ 172,211 
Interest cost 6,412 7,410 58,826 
Expected return on plan assets (20,852) (21,446) (191,303) 
Recognized net actuarial loss 10,158 10,196 93,192 
Amortization of prior service credit (3,042) (2,280) (27,908) 
Settlement (gain) loss (138) 150 (1,266) 
Net periodic benefit cost ¥ 11,309 ¥ 17,092 $ 103,752 
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11.  Pension and Severance Plans (continued) 
 
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost (continued) 
 
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are summarized 
as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Current year actuarial (gain) loss ¥  7,552 ¥ 17,689 $ 69,284 
Amortization of actuarial loss (10,158) (10,196) (93,192) 
Prior service credit due to amendments 149 (11,358) 1,367 
Amortization of prior service credit 3,042 2,280 27,908 
Settlement gain (loss) – (150) – 
Total ¥     585 ¥  (1,735) $   5,367 

 
As of March 31, 2020, the estimated net actuarial loss and prior service credit for the 
defined benefit pension plans that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss) into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year are as follows: 
 
  

(Millions of 
yen) 

(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 

Net actuarial loss ¥ 9,246 $ 84,826 
Prior service credit (2,296) (21,064) 
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11.  Pension and Severance Plans (continued) 
 
Obligations and Funded Status 
 
Reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligation and the fair 
value of the plan assets and the funded status of the defined benefit pension plans for the 
years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are outlined as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Changes in benefit obligation:    
Benefit obligation at beginning of year ¥846,072 ¥865,050 $7,762,129 
Service cost 18,771 23,062 172,211 
Interest cost 6,412 7,410 58,826 
Plan participants’ contributions 317 367 2,908 
Plan amendments 149 (11,358) 1,367 
Actuarial (gain) loss (12,363) 13,470 (113,422) 
Benefits paid (37,872) (46,238) (347,450) 
Settlement paid  (138) (930) (1,266) 
Foreign currency translation (9,758) (4,761) (89,523) 
Benefit obligation at end of year 811,590 846,072 7,445,780 

Changes in plan assets:    
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 822,083 836,428 7,542,046 
Actual return on plan assets 937 17,758 8,596 
Employers’ contributions 17,655 16,453 161,973 
Plan participants’ contributions 317 367 2,908 
Benefits paid (36,285) (43,873) (332,890) 
Settlement paid – (930) – 
Foreign currency translation (10,816) (4,120) (99,229) 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 793,891 822,083 7,283,404 

Funded status ¥ (17,699) ¥ (23,989) $  (162,376) 
 
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets related to the defined benefit 
pension plans as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Other assets ¥ 17,240 ¥ 17,444 $ 158,165 
Accrued liabilities (1,121) (1,098) (10,284) 
Accrued pension and severance costs (33,818) (40,335) (310,257) 
Net amount recognized ¥(17,699) ¥(23,989) $(162,376) 
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11.  Pension and Severance Plans (continued) 
 
Obligations and Funded Status (continued) 
 
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to the 
defined benefit pension plans as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Net actuarial loss ¥210,867 ¥213,473 $1,934,560 
Prior service credit (17,675) (20,866) (162,156) 
Total ¥193,192 ¥192,607 $1,772,404 

 
The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans amounted to 
¥804,538 million ($7,381,083 thousand) and ¥838,483 million as of March 31, 2020 and 
2019, respectively. 
 
The aggregate projected benefit obligation and aggregate fair value of plan assets for the 
pension plans where the projected benefit obligation exceeded the plan assets, and the 
aggregate accumulated benefit obligation and aggregate fair value of plan assets where 
accumulated benefit obligation exceeded plan assets as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as 
follows:  
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Plans with projected benefit obligation in 
excess of plan assets: 

   

Projected benefit obligation ¥729,756 ¥773,626 $6,695,009 
Fair value of plan assets 696,924 734,532 6,393,798 

Plans with accumulated benefit obligation in 
excess of plan assets: 

  
 

Accumulated benefit obligation 722,609 765,872 6,629,440 
Fair value of plan assets 694,785 732,423 6,374,174 
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11.  Pension and Severance Plans (continued) 
 
Assumptions 
 
The weighted average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation as of March 31, 
2020 and 2019 are as follows:  Rate of compensation increase is not presented because 
most of the defined benefit pension plans’ benefit formulas are not based on compensation 
levels and therefore the rate of compensation increase does not impact the calculation of the 
benefit obligation. 
 
 2020 2019 

Discount rate 0.74% 0.81% 
 
The weighted average assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit cost for the 
years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:  Rate of compensation increase is not 
presented because most of the defined benefit pension plans’ benefit formulas are not based 
on compensation levels and therefore the rate of compensation increase does not impact the 
calculation of the net periodic benefit cost. 
 
 2020 2019 

Discount rate 0.74% 0.81% 
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 2.48% 2.54% 
 
The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on the long-term expected 
return of the plans’ asset considering their allocations and an evaluation of the historical 
behavior of the Company’s portfolio. 
 
Plan Assets 
 
The Company’s investment objectives are to earn sufficient long term returns with an 
acceptable level of risk, while maintaining adequate funding levels for pension payments 
and/or lump sum payments. 
 
The Company has designed a basic asset allocation model which ensures acceptable mid 
and long-term returns, appropriate diversification of risks and matches the asset 
characteristics with those of the Company’s pension liabilities. The Company reviews asset 
allocations periodically for effectiveness and when conditions have changed, reconsiders 
the basic asset allocation, if necessary. The Company makes individual investment 
decisions after ensuring that risks fall within a predefined acceptable range considering 
short-term market conditions. 
 
Targeted allocation ratios for equity securities, debt securities, general accounts of life 
insurance companies and alternative investments are 21% (7% domestic and 14% foreign), 
30% (6% domestic and 24% foreign), 26% and 23%, respectively. Alternative investments 
primarily consist of hedge funds and real estate. 



FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 

38 

11.  Pension and Severance Plans (continued) 
 
Plan Assets (continued) 
 
Equity securities consist principally of stocks that are listed on securities exchanges and 
have been selected based on thorough analysis of investees’ businesses, their potential for 
future growth and other appropriate factors while ensuring that industries in which the 
investees operate are appropriately diversified. Debt securities consist principally of 
government and other public debt, and corporate debt which have been selected based on 
thorough analysis of issuers and the terms and conditions of those securities including 
investment grades, interest rates, maturity dates, financial position of issuers and other 
factors so that maturity dates and issuers are appropriately diversified. Pooled funds have 
been selected for investment using the same strategies as those for equity and debt 
securities described above. The Company has selected general accounts of life insurance 
companies, for which life insurance companies have guaranteed anticipated interest rates 
and return of capital, based on thorough analysis of issuers’ investment grades and other 
factors so that the investments are appropriately diversified. Regarding foreign investments, 
the Company has selected the countries and currencies in which the Company invests in 
based on thorough analysis of the political and economic stability in those countries, the 
market characteristics, such as settlement systems and taxation systems, and other factors 
so that the investments are appropriately diversified. Alternative investments consist 
principally of hedge funds and real estate, which were intended to hedge the risk of 
traditional assets and establish ongoing returns that are less sensitive to market trends. The 
Company has selected alternative investments based on thorough analysis of the nature of 
risks and returns which are completely different from those of traditional assets so that the 
investment techniques and asset management companies are appropriately diversified.
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11.  Pension and Severance Plans (continued) 
 
Plan Assets (continued) 
 
The fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in valuation techniques is described 
in Note 20 “Fair Value Measurement”. The fair value hierarchy of plan assets as of March 
31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 
 2020 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
NAV  

(Note 1) Total 
 (Millions of yen) 
Cash and cash equivalents, and  
Short-term receivables (Note 2) ¥ 3,934 ¥   4,609 ¥      – ¥        –  ¥   8,543 

Equity securities      
Domestic companies securities 8,906 424 – – 9,330 
Foreign companies securities 13,860 19,536 – – 33,396 
Securities investment trust 239 – – – 239 
Pooled funds (Note 3) – 637 – 136,734 137,371 

Debt securities      
Government debt securities (Note 4) 12,844 5,358 – – 18,202 
Corporate debt securities (Note 5) – 40,987 – – 40,987 
Pooled funds (Note 6) – 6,926 – 198,281 205,207 

General accounts of life insurance companies – 190,577 – – 190,577 
Alternative investments      

Equity securities funds (Note 7) – – – 2,976 2,976 
Debt securities funds (Note 8) 3,850 – – 6,592 10,442 
Other funds (Note 9) 4,080 3,067 2,121 95,519 104,787 
Real estate (Note 10) – – 330 31,504 31,834 

Total ¥47,713 ¥272,121 ¥2,451 ¥471,606 ¥793,891 
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11.  Pension and Severance Plans (continued) 
 
Plan Assets (continued) 
 
 2019 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
NAV  

(Note 1) Total 
 (Millions of yen) 
Cash and cash equivalents, and  
Short-term receivables (Note 2) ¥ 3,992 ¥   4,024 ¥      – ¥        –  ¥   8,016 

Equity securities      
Domestic companies securities 8,834 405 – – 9,239 
Foreign companies securities 15,821 20,257 – – 36,078 
Securities investment trust 761 – – – 761 
Pooled funds (Note 3) – 1,632 – 149,066 150,698 

Debt securities      
Government debt securities (Note 4) 13,453 4,096 – – 17,549 
Corporate debt securities (Note 5) – 40,326 – – 40,326 
Pooled funds (Note 6) – 6,053 – 210,698 216,751 

General accounts of life insurance companies – 192,237 – – 192,237 
Alternative investments      

Equity securities funds (Note 7) – – – 2,937 2,937 
Debt securities funds (Note 8) 3,817 – – 5,982 9,799 
Other funds (Note 9) 4,145 3,638 2,241 99,495 109,519 
Real estate (Note 10) – 24 393 27,756 28,173 

Total ¥50,823 ¥272,692 ¥2,634 ¥495,934 ¥822,083 
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11.  Pension and Severance Plans (continued) 
 
Plan Assets (continued) 
 
 2020 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
NAV  

(Note 1) Total 
 (Thousands of U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Cash and cash equivalents, and  
Short-term receivables (Note 2) $  36,092 $  42,284 $    – $       – $   78,376 

Equity securities      
Domestic companies securities 81,706 3,891 – – 85,597 
Foreign companies securities 127,156 179,229 – – 306,385 
Securities investment trust 2,193 – – – 2,193 
Pooled funds (Note 3) – 5,844 – 1,254,440 1,260,284 

Debt securities      
Government debt securities  
(Note 4) 117,835 49,156 – 

 
– 166,991 

Corporate debt securities (Note 5) – 376,027 – – 376,027 
Pooled funds (Note 6) – 63,541 – 1,819,092 1,882,633 

General accounts of life insurance 
companies – 1,748,413 – 

 
– 1,748,413 

Alternative investments      
Equity securities funds (Note 7) – – – 27,303 27,303 
Debt securities funds (Note 8) 35,321 – – 60,477 95,798 
Other funds (Note 9) 37,431 28,138 19,459 876,321 961,349 
Real estate (Note 10) – – 3,027 289,028 292,055 

Total $437,734 $2,496,523 $22,486 $4,326,661 $7,283,404 

 
(Note 1) Certain assets that are measured at fair value using net asset value (“NAV”) per 

share applied by practical expedient, have not been classified in the fair value 
hierarchy. 

 
(Note 2) Short-term receivables include cash at bank held in the loan account of pooled 

funds, negotiable certificates of deposit and call loans, which are classified as 
Level 2. 

 
(Note 3) Pooled funds of equity securities consist of 27% and 27% domestic companies 

and 73% and 73% foreign companies as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. 

 
(Note 4) This category consists of 80% and 78% Japanese government debt securities and 

20% and 22% foreign government debt securities as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. 
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11.  Pension and Severance Plans (continued) 
 
Plan Assets (continued) 
 
(Note 5) This category consists of 14% and 15% domestic corporate debt securities and 

86% and 85% foreign corporate debt securities as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. 

 
(Note 6) Pooled funds of debt securities consist of 10% and 10% Japanese government 

debt securities, government agency and municipal securities, 62% and 62% 
foreign government debt securities, 0% and 2% domestic corporate debt 
securities and 28% and 26% foreign corporate debt securities as of March 31, 
2020 and 2019, respectively. 

 
(Note 7) Equity securities funds invest principally in domestic companies securities. 
 
(Note 8) Debt securities funds invest principally in foreign government debt securities 

and foreign currencies. 
 
(Note 9) Other funds include managed futures which principally invest in listed futures 

and fund of hedge funds whose investments are diversified with a combination 
of various products and investment techniques. 

 
(Note 10) Real estate includes principally domestic real estate funds whose investment 

policy is to generate stable rental income and capital gains from sales on real 
estate. 
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11.  Pension and Severance Plans (continued) 
 
Plan Assets (continued) 
 
Plan assets classified as Level 1 include principally cash and cash equivalents, government 
debt securities and listed stocks, which were valued using unadjusted quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets. Plan assets classified as Level 2 include principally 
government agency securities, municipal debt securities, corporate debt securities, pooled 
funds of equity and debt securities, general accounts of life insurance companies and 
certain alternative investments. Government agency securities, municipal debt securities 
and corporate debt securities were valued using directly or indirectly observable inputs in 
non-active markets. Pooled funds and certain alternative investments were valued using 
inputs that were corroborated by observable market data obtained from financial institutions 
or third parties. General accounts of life insurance companies were valued at conversion 
value. Plan assets classified as Level 3 include alternative investments, primarily consisting 
of hedge funds and real estate, which were valued using unobservable inputs that were 
significant to the measurement of their value. 
 
Reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for assets classified as Level 3 for the 
years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 
 2020 

 

Balance at 
beginning of 

year 

Actual returns 
on assets 

held at the 
reporting date 

Gain (loss) on 
sales of assets 

during 
the period 

Purchase/ 
sales 

Currency 
translation 

Balance at 
end of year 

 (Millions of yen) 
Alternative investments       
Equity securities funds  ¥     – ¥   – ¥– ¥  – ¥    – ¥     – 
Debt securities funds – – – – – – 
Other funds 2,241 (20) – 83 (183) 2,21 
Real estate 393 (60) – – (3) 330 
Total ¥2,634 ¥(80) ¥– ¥83 ¥(186) ¥2,451 

 
 2019 

 

Balance at 
beginning of 

year 

Actual returns 
on assets 

held at the 
reporting date 

Gain (loss) on 
sales of assets 

during 
the period 

Purchase/ 
sales 

Currency 
translation 

Balance at 
end of year 

 (Millions of yen) 
Alternative investments       
Equity securities funds  ¥      – ¥    – ¥– ¥        – ¥   – ¥     – 
Debt securities funds 157 – – (157) – – 
Other funds 4,130 (112) – (1,701) (76) 2,241 
Real estate 418 (42) – – 17 393 
Total ¥4,705 ¥(154) ¥– ¥(1,858) ¥(59) ¥2,634 
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11.  Pension and Severance Plans (continued) 
 
Plan Assets (continued) 
 
 2020 

 

Balance at 
beginning of 

year 

Actual returns 
on assets 

held at the 
reporting date 

Gain (loss) on 
sales of assets 

during 
the period 

Purchase/ 
sales 

Currency 
translation 

Balance at 
end of year 

 (Thousands of U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Alternative investments       
Equity securities funds  $     – $    – $– $    – $        – $     – 
Debt securities funds – – – – – – 
Other funds 20,560 (183) – 761  (1,679) 19,459  
Real estate 3,606 (551) – – (28) 3,027  
Total $24,166 $  (734) $– $761  $(1,707) $22,486  

 
Contribution 
 
The Company expects to contribute approximately ¥15,138 million ($138,881 thousand) to 
the defined benefit pension plans for the year ending March 31, 2021. 
 
Estimated Future Benefit Payments 
 
The expected benefit payments, which reflect estimated future service, are summarized as 
follows:   

  
(Millions of 

yen) 

(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Year ending March 31   

2021 ¥  31,872 $  292,404 
2022 31,972 293,321 
2023 33,169 304,303 
2024 34,126 313,083 
2025 35,250 323,394 
2026 through 2030 180,458 1,655,578 
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12.  Income Taxes 
 
Income taxes applicable to the Company and its domestic subsidiaries comprise corporation, 
inhabitant and enterprise taxes which, in the aggregate, resulted in a statutory tax rate of 
30.6% for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019.  
 
The effective tax rates reflected in the consolidated statements of income for the years 
ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 differ from the statutory tax rate due to the following 
reasons: 
 
 2020 2019 
 (%) (%) 

Statutory tax rates 30.6 30.6 
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:   

Differences other than temporary differences, etc. (7.6) 0.7 
Difference in statutory tax rates of other countries (4.5) (3.3) 
Deferred tax liabilities on undistributed earnings 0.4 4.4 
Research and development credits (1.9) (2.1) 
Net change in valuation allowances 2.9 (0.7) 
Adjustment for unrecognized tax benefits (0.1) 1.4 
Difference in effective tax rates of domestic 
subsidiaries 0.5 0.4 

Investor taxes on equity income from foreign 
subsidiaries 0.1 (4.5) 

Other 0.5 (0.6) 
Effective tax rates 20.9 26.3 

 
Income before income taxes by tax jurisdictions for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 
2019 is as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Income before income taxes:    
Domestic ¥104,796 ¥112,617 $   961,431 
Foreign 68,275 100,145 626,376 
Total ¥173,071 ¥212,762 $1,587,807 
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12.  Income Taxes (continued) 
 
The components of income taxes for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as 
follows: 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Current:    
Domestic ¥23,625 ¥21,367 $216,743 
Foreign 19,197 22,330 176,119 
Total current 42,822 43,697 392,862 

Deferred:    
Domestic (6,447) 12,762 (59,147) 
Foreign (261) (403) (2,394) 
Total deferred (6,708) 12,359 (61,541) 

Total ¥36,114 ¥56,056 $331,321 
 
The major components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 
are as follows: 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Deferred tax assets:    
Inventories ¥  14,669 ¥  14,255 $  134,578 
Depreciation 23,691 24,796 217,349 
Accrued expenses 31,473 34,977 288,743 
Accrued pension and severance costs 12,123 15,198 111,220 
Accrued enterprise taxes 2,368 1,614 21,725 
Tax loss carryforwards 37,323 35,986 342,413 
Losses on investment securities 2,892 2,704 26,532 
Allowance for doubtful receivables 6,446 6,574 59,138 
Operating lease liabilities 21,007 – 192,725 
Other 35,083 28,645 321,861 
 187,075 164,749 1,716,284 
Less: Valuation allowances (30,456) (26,138) (279,413) 

Total deferred tax assets 156,619 138,611 1,436,871 
Deferred tax liabilities:    

Depreciation 15,037 7,430 137,954 
Lease receivables 9,187 11,734 84,284 
Taxes on undistributed earnings 27,092 27,545 248,550 
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities 2,364 14,298 21,688 
Goodwill 14,048 12,847 128,881 
Accrued pension and severance costs 3,790 3,970 34,771 
Other intangible assets 35,884 39,316 329,211 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 20,531 – 188,358 
Other 12,433 8,668 114,064 

Total deferred tax liabilities 140,366 125,808 1,287,761 
Net deferred tax assets ¥  16,253 ¥  12,803 $  149,110 
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12.  Income Taxes (continued) 
 
The valuation allowances relate primarily to the deferred tax assets of certain subsidiaries 
which have net operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes. The valuation allowances 
increased by ¥4,318 million ($39,615 thousand) for the year ended March 31, 2020 and 
decreased by ¥2,421 million for the year ended March 31, 2019. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 are included in the 
consolidated balance sheets as follows:  
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Deferred income taxes (other assets) ¥ 37,811 ¥ 32,762 $ 346,890 
Deferred income taxes (non-current liabilities) (21,558) (19,959) (197,780) 
Net deferred tax assets  ¥ 16,253 ¥ 12,803 $ 149,110 
 
As of March 31, 2020, certain subsidiaries have net operating loss carryforwards for 
income tax purposes of ¥116,502 million ($1,068,826 thousand), of which ¥66,223 million 
($607,550 thousand) will be carried forward indefinitely, ¥39,287 million ($360,431 
thousand) will expire through the year ending March 31, 2030 and the remainder will 
expire through the year ending March 31, 2035. These net operating loss carryforwards are 
available to offset future taxable income of the subsidiaries. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognized on undistributed earnings of its domestic 
subsidiaries as such earnings, if distributed in the form of dividends, are not taxable under 
present tax laws. 
 
The Company recognizes tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely 
than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities. 
 
Reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of unrecognized tax benefits is as 
follows: 
 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Balance, as of April 1 ¥1,536 ¥2,231 $14,092 
Additions for tax positions of the current year 77 261 706 
Additions for tax positions of prior years – – – 
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (195) (35) (1,789) 
Settlements with tax authorities (80) (921) (734) 
Balance, as of March 31 ¥1,338 ¥1,536 $12,275 
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12.  Income Taxes (continued) 
 
The total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits that would reduce the effective tax rate, if 
recognized, are ¥1,338 million ($12,275 thousand) and ¥1,536 million for the years ended 
March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  
 
Although the Company believes its estimates and assumptions of unrecognized tax benefits 
are reasonable, uncertainty regarding the final determination of tax audit settlements could 
affect the effective tax rate in the future period. Based on each of the items of which the 
Company is aware as of March 31, 2020, no significant changes to the unrecognized tax 
benefits are expected within the next twelve months. 
 
Both interest and penalties accrued as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 in the consolidated 
balance sheets and included in income taxes for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
in the consolidated statements of income were not material.  
 
In Japan, tax examinations of the Company and major domestic subsidiaries by the tax 
authorities for the year ended March 31, 2015 and before have been completed. While there 
are no indications that the Company would be subject to tax examination related to transfer 
pricing as of March 31, 2020, the tax authority still has a right to conduct a tax examination 
for fiscal years ended on and after March 31, 2012.  
 
In foreign tax jurisdictions, tax examinations of major foreign subsidiaries for the year 
ended March 31, 2012 and before have been completed.   
 
 
13.  Equity 
 
The Companies Act of Japan (the “Act”) provides that an amount equal to 10% of a 
distribution of earnings be appropriated to the additional paid-in capital or legal reserve. 
The Act also provides to the extent that the sum of the additional paid-in capital account 
and the legal reserve account exceed 25% of the common stock account, then the amount of 
the excess (if any) is available for appropriations by resolution of the shareholders. 
 
Retained earnings available for dividends under the Act are based on the amount presented 
in the Company’s non-consolidated financial statements, which are prepared in accordance 
with accounting principles and practices generally accepted in Japan. Under the Act, the 
amount of retained earnings available for dividends as of March 31, 2020 amounted to 
¥1,128,906 million ($10,356,936 thousand). 
 
The appropriation of retained earnings for the year ended March 31, 2020 has been 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements, including the amount approved at the 
124th Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held on June 26, 2020. 
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14.  Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
 
The changes in each component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the 
years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 

Unrealized 
gains (losses) 
on securities 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments 

Pension 
liability 

adjustments 

Unrealized 
gains (losses) 

on 
derivatives Total 

 (Millions of yen) 

As of April 1, 2018 ¥18,976 ¥  (3,786) ¥(102,524) ¥(449) ¥ (87,783) 
Cumulative effect of adoption 
of Accounting Standards 
Update 2016-01 (18,976) – – – (18,976) 

Change in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) (2) 7,162 (3,711) 887 4,336 

Reclassification adjustment for 
gains and losses realized in net 
income – (1,264) 3,772 (678) 1,830 

Other comprehensive income 
(loss) (2) 5,898 61 209 6,166 

As of March 31, 2019 ¥    (2) ¥   2,112 ¥(102,463) ¥(240) ¥(100,593) 
Change in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) (9) (45,489) (4,036) 665 (48,869) 

Reclassification adjustment for 
gains and losses realized in net 
income – – 3,914 (543) 3,371 

Other comprehensive income 
(loss) (9) (45,489) (122) 122 (45,498) 

Equity transactions with 
noncontrolling interests and 
other – (2,824) (15,195) 10 (18,009) 

As of March 31, 2020 ¥   (11) ¥(46,201) ¥(117,780) ¥(108) ¥(164,100) 
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14.  Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (continued) 
 

 

Unrealized 
gains (losses) 
on securities 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments 

Pension 
liability 

adjustments 

Unrealized 
gains (losses) 

on 
derivatives Total 

 (Thousands of U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

As of March 31, 2019 $  (18) $  19,376 $   (940,028) $(2,202) $   (922,872) 

Change in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) (83) (417,330) (37,027) 6,101 (448,339) 

Reclassification adjustment for 
gains and losses realized in net 
income – – 35,908 (4,982) 30,926 

Other comprehensive income 
(loss) (83) (417,330) (1,119) 1,119 (417,413) 

Equity transactions with 
noncontrolling interests and 
other – (25,908) (139,404) 92 (165,220) 

As of March 31, 2020 $(101) $(423,862) $(1,080,551) $  (991) $(1,505,505) 
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14.  Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (continued) 
 
The amounts reclassified out of each component of accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss) to net income for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

Affected line item in the 
consolidated statements of income 2020 2019 2020 

 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 

Foreign currency translation adjustments    
Other, net ¥    – ¥  1,017 $     – 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests – 247 – 
Net income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings – 1,264 – 

Pension liability adjustments    
Other, net (7,116) (8,066) (65,284) 
Income taxes 2,757 3,132 25,294 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 445 1,162 4,082 
Net income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings (3,914) (3,772) (35,908) 

Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives    
Foreign exchange gains (losses), net 1,412 1,997 12,954 
Other, net (356) (533) (3,266) 
Income taxes (316) (440) (2,899) 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (197) (346) (1,807) 
Net income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings 543 678 4,982 

Total ¥(3,371) ¥(1,830) $(30,926) 

 
The related tax effects allocated to each component of other comprehensive income (loss), 
including amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests, for the years ended March 31, 
2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 
  



FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 

52 

14.  Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (continued) 
 
 Before-tax 

amount 
Tax (expense) 

or benefit 
Net-of-tax 

amount 
 (Millions of yen) 
2020    
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities:    

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on securities ¥    (12) ¥    3 ¥     (9) 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses 
realized in net income – – – 

Net change in unrealized gains (losses) (12) 3 (9) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments:    

Change in foreign currency translation adjustments (50,279) – (50,279) 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses 
realized in net income 

 
– 

 
– 

 
– 

Net change in foreign currency translation adjustments (50,279) – (50,279) 
Pension liability adjustments:    

Change in pension liability adjustments (7,701) 3,484  (4,217) 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses 
realized in net income 

 
7,116 

 
(2,757) 

 
4,359 

Net change in pension liability adjustments (585) 727 142 
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives:    

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives 1,263 (386) 877 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses 
realized in net income 

 
(1,056) 

 
316 

 
(740) 

Net change in unrealized gains (losses) 207  (70) 137  
Total ¥(50,669) ¥  660 ¥(50,009) 
 
 Before-tax 

amount 
Tax (expense) 

or benefit 
Net-of-tax 

amount 
 (Millions of yen) 
2019    
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities:    

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on securities ¥   (4) ¥    2 ¥    (2) 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses 
realized in net income – – – 

Net change in unrealized gains (losses) (4) 2 (2) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments:    

Change in foreign currency translation adjustments 7,339 – 7,339 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses 
realized in net income 

 
(1,017) 

 
– 

 
(1,017) 

Net change in foreign currency translation adjustments 6,322 – 6,322 
Pension liability adjustments:    

Change in pension liability adjustments (6,331) 2,282 (4,049) 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses 
realized in net income 

 
8,066 

 
(3,132) 

 
4,934 

Net change in pension liability adjustments 1,735 (850) 885 
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives:    

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives 1,748 (536) 1,212 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses 
realized in net income 

 
(1,464) 

 
440 

 
(1,024) 

Net change in unrealized gains (losses) 284 (96) 188 
Total ¥8,337 ¥  (944) ¥  7,393 
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14.  Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (continued) 
 
 Before-tax 

amount 
Tax (expense) 

or benefit 
Net-of-tax 

amount 
 (Thousands of U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
2020    
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities:    

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on securities $   (110) $     27 $     (83) 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses 
realized in net income – – – 

Net change in unrealized gains (losses) (110) 27 (83) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments:    

Change in foreign currency translation adjustments (461,275) – (461,275) 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses 
realized in net income 

 
– 

 
– 

 
– 

Net change in foreign currency translation adjustments (461,275) – (461,275) 
Pension liability adjustments:    

Change in pension liability adjustments (70,651) 31,963 (38,688) 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses 
realized in net income 65,284 (25,293) 39,991 

Net change in pension liability adjustments (5,367) 6,670 1,303 
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives:    

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives 11,587 (3,541) 8,046 
Less:  Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses 
realized in net income (9,688) 2,899 (6,789) 

Net change in unrealized gains (losses) 1,899 (642) 1,257 
Total $(464,853) $  6,055 $(458,798) 

 
 
15.  Commitments and Contingent Liabilities 
 
Guarantees 
 
The Company guarantees certain indebtedness of others and other obligations. As of March 
31, 2020, the maximum potential amount of future payments (undiscounted) the Company 
could be required to make under such guarantees was ¥3,369 million ($30,908 thousand), 
of which ¥1,967 million ($18,046 thousand) were guarantees of employee mortgage loans 
to financial institutions. In the event of an employee’s insolvency, certain subsidiaries of 
the Company will need to pay the default mortgage on behalf of the employee. The 
guarantees are partly secured by the employees’ property in the amount of ¥1,967 million 
($18,046 thousand). The terms of the mortgage loan guarantees are from 1 to 17 years. The 
Company has not made any significant payments under such guarantees in the past and as 
of March 31, 2020, and the carrying amount of the liability for the Company’s obligations 
under such guarantees was not material. 
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15.  Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (continued) 
 
Purchase Commitments, Other Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Commitments outstanding as of March 31, 2020, principally for the construction and 
purchase of property, plant and equipment, amounted to ¥14,591 million ($133,862 
thousand). As of March 31, 2020, the Company was contingently liable for discounted 
notes receivable on a full recourse basis with banks of ¥1,793 million ($16,450 thousand). 
 
Due to the nature of its business, the Company is subject to various threatened or filed legal 
actions and regulatory investigations. The Company has provided the necessary accruals, if 
any, for environmental remediation, litigation and regulatory investigations, for which 
occurrence of the future events is probable and the amount of loss can be reasonably 
estimated. Although the amount of the ultimate exposure, if any, cannot be determined at 
this time, the Company does not expect the final outcome of those matters to have a 
material adverse effect on the financial position, operating results and cash flows of the 
Company. 

 
Product Warranties 
 
The Company provides a warranty for certain of its products. These warranties generally 
extend for a period of one year from the date of sale. The following table sets forth the 
changes in the Company’s warranty liability balance: 
 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Balance, as of April 1 ¥ 9,447 ¥ 9,117 $  86,670 
Warranties issued during the current period 6,570 6,374 60,275 
Settlements made during the current period (7,034) (5,553) (64,532) 
Other, including changes in liability for 
pre-existing warranties during the current 
period 

 
(390) 

 
(491) 

 
(3,578) 

Balance, as of March 31 ¥ 8,593 ¥ 9,447 $  78,835 
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16.  Net Income Attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings per Share 
 
A calculation of the basic and diluted net income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings per 
share for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of Yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Net income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings  ¥124,987 ¥138,106 $1,146,670 

 
 2020 2019 
 (Shares) 
Weighted average common shares 

outstanding-Basic 408,215,110 422,591,209 
Securities with dilutive effect:   

Stock options 1,289,413 1,279,795 
Weighted average common shares 

outstanding-Diluted 
 

409,504,523 
 

423,871,004 

 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Yen) (U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Net income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings 

per share: 
   

Basic ¥306.18 ¥326.81 $2.81 
Diluted  305.22  325.82  2.80 

 
Although the Company adjusted the dilutive effect in the calculation of diluted net income 
attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings per share, the number of common stocks to be issued 
when stock options are exercised in the future, which is possible to have a dilutive effect on 
basic net income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings per share, were 23,500 and 24,100 
shares as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
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17.  Stock-Based Compensation Plan 
 
The Company has stock-based compensation plans for Directors, Executive Officers, and 
important employees of the Company as well as Directors, Executive Officers, Fellows, and 
important employees of its certain consolidated subsidiaries. Under the stock-based 
compensation plans, one stock acquisition right represents one option to purchase 100 
shares of the Company’s common stock. 
 
General terms of contracts are as follows. It is presented in numbers of shares on grant 
dates. 
 

Stock 
acquisition 

rights 

 
Number 
of shares 

Exercise 
price 
(Yen) 

 
 

Grant date 

 
Period for exercising stock 

acquisition rights 
No. 3-1 255,300 1 September 1, 

2009 
September 2, 2009 ~ September 1, 
2039 (Note 1) 

No. 3-2 181,600 2,828 September 1, 
2009 

August 1, 2011 ~ July 31, 2019 

No. 4-1 277,800 1 January 31, 2011 February 1, 2011 ~ January 31, 2041 
(Note 1) 

No. 4-2 196,200 2,965 January 31, 2011 December 25, 2012 ~ December 24, 
2020 

No. 5-1 386,000 1 April 2, 2012 April 3, 2012~ April 2, 2042 (Note 2) 
No. 5-2 23,100 2,012 April 2, 2012 March 3, 2014 ~ March 2, 2022 
No. 6-1 370,400 1 April 1, 2013 April 2, 2013 ~ April 1, 2043 (Note 2) 
No. 6-2 23,500 1,842 April 1, 2013 February 27, 2015 ~ February 26, 

2023 
No. 7-1 227,100 1 April 1, 2014 April 2, 2014 ~ April 1, 2044 (Note 2) 
No. 7-2 23,200 2,803 April 1, 2014 February 28, 2016 ~ February 27, 

2024 
No. 8-1 182,100 1 April 1, 2015 April 2, 2015 ~ April 1, 2045 (Note 2) 
No. 8-2 22,500 4,205 April 1, 2015 February 27, 2017 ~ February 26, 

2025 
No. 9-1 174,800 1 June 1, 2016 June 2, 2016 ~ June 1, 2046 (Note 2) 
No. 9-2 25,100 4,495 June 1, 2016 April 28, 2018 ~ April 27, 2026 
No. 10-1 163,300 1 June 1, 2017 June 2, 2017 ~ June 1, 2047 (Note 3) 
No. 10-2 23,500 4,146 June 1, 2017 April 28, 2019 ~ April 27, 2027 
No. 11-1 174,000 1 June 1, 2018 June 2, 2018 ~ June 1, 2048 (Note 3) 
No. 11-2 24,100 4,241 June 1, 2018 May 11, 2020 ~ May 10, 2028 
No. 12-1 136,300 1 June 1, 2019 June 2, 2019 ~ June 1, 2049 (Note 3) 
No. 12-2 23,500 5,238 June 1, 2019 May 9, 2021 ~ May 8, 2029 
 
  



FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 

57 

17.  Stock-Based Compensation Plan (continued) 
 
(Note 1) In the case that stock acquisition right holders cease to hold any positions as the 

Company’s or its certain subsidiaries’ Directors, Corporate Auditors, Executive 
Officers, Fellows, or other positions appointed by the Board of Directors, during 
the period for exercising the stock acquisition rights, they shall exercise the stock 
acquisition rights during a limited period of 7 years beginning from the day 
following the date of loss of position. 

 
(Note 2) In the case that stock acquisition right holders cease to hold any positions as the 

Company’s or its certain subsidiaries’ Directors, Corporate Auditors, Executive 
Officers, Fellows, employees, or other positions appointed by the Board of 
Directors, during the period for exercising the stock acquisition rights, they shall 
exercise the stock acquisition rights during a limited period of 7 years beginning 
from the day following the date of loss of position. 

 
(Note 3) In the case that stock acquisition right holders cease to hold any positions as the 

Company’s or its certain subsidiaries’ Directors, Corporate Auditors, Executive 
Officers, Fellows, employees, or other positions appointed by the Board of 
Directors, during the period for exercising the stock acquisition rights, they shall 
exercise the stock acquisition rights all at once during a limited period of 10 
calendar days beginning from the day following the date of loss of position. 

 
The Company recognized stock-based compensation cost of ¥694 million ($6,367 
thousand) and ¥717 million as “Selling, general and administrative” in the consolidated 
statements of income for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and the 
cost was measured as the fair value of the options estimated using the Black-Scholes 
pricing model. The deferred income tax benefit related to the cost was ¥205 million ($1,881 
thousand) and ¥213 million for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. As 
of March 31, 2020, there was no unrecognized stock-based compensation cost. There were 
1,309 stock acquisition rights exercised during the year ended March 31, 2020. The 
weighted average grant date fair values of stock acquisition rights granted during the years 
ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 were ¥4,346 ($39.87) and ¥3,617, respectively. The total 
fair values of shares vested during the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 were ¥692 
million ($6,349 thousand) and ¥716 million, respectively. Cash received from the exercise 
of stock options for the year ended March 31, 2020, was ¥186 million ($1,706 thousand).  
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17.  Stock-Based Compensation Plan (continued) 
 
A summary of the status of stock acquisition rights during the years ended March 31, 2020 
and 2019 is as follows: 
 

2020 
 

Number of 
shares 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

term 

Aggregate 
intrinsic 

value 
  (Yen) (Years) (Millions of yen) 
Outstanding as of April 1, 2019 1,407,800 ¥   418   
Granted 159,800 771   
Exercised (130,900) 1,424   
Forfeited or expired (9,600) 2,828   
Outstanding as of March 31, 2020 1,427,100 349 23.0 ¥7,264 
Exercisable as of March 31, 2020 1,403,600 267 23.2 7,260 
 

2019 
 

Number of 
shares 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

term 

Aggregate 
intrinsic 

value 
  (Yen) (Years) (Millions of yen) 
Outstanding as of April 1, 2018 1,597,700 ¥   553   
Granted 198,100 517   
Exercised (346,400) 991   
Forfeited or expired (41,600) 1,302   
Outstanding as of March 31, 2019 1,407,800 418 22.6 ¥6,499 
Exercisable as of March 31, 2019 1,383,700 351 22.9 6,480 
 
2020 
 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

Aggregate intrinsic 
value 

 (U.S. dollar) (Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Outstanding as of April 1, 2019 $  3.83  
Granted 7.07  
Exercised 13.06  
Forfeited or expired 25.94  
Outstanding as of March 31, 2020 3.20 $66,642 
Exercisable as of March 31, 2020 2.45 66,606 
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17.  Stock-Based Compensation Plan (continued) 
 
The aggregate intrinsic value of shares exercised under the stock acquisition rights plan was 
¥526 million ($4,826 thousand) and ¥1,401 million for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 
2019, respectively. 
 
The fair value of the stock acquisition rights as of the grant date was estimated using the 
Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: 
 
Stock acquisition 

rights 
Expected 
volatility 

Expected 
remaining life 

Expected 
dividend (Yen) 

Risk-free 
interest rate 

No. 3-1 58.623% 1 year  30 0.170% 
No. 3-2 34.575% 6 years  30 0.738% 
No. 4-1 23.274% 1 year 27.5 0.145% 
No. 4-2 34.205% 6 years 27.5 0.584% 
No. 5-1 28.548% 1 year 32.5 0.105% 
No. 5-2 38.826% 6 years 32.5 0.459% 
No. 6-1 28.682% 1 year 37.5 0.055% 
No. 6-2 36.549% 6 years 37.5 0.180% 
No. 7-1 36.312% 1 year  40 0.070% 
No. 7-2 37.091% 6 years  40 0.252% 
No. 8-1 24.178% 1 year  55 0.020% 
No. 8-2 29.772% 6 years  55 0.123% 
No. 9-1 32.900% 1 year 67.5 (0.265%) 
No. 9-2 29.840% 6 years 67.5 (0.256%) 
No. 10-1 28.736% 2 years 67.5 (0.165%) 
No. 10-2 29.426% 6 years 67.5 (0.092%) 
No. 11-1 27.457% 3 years 72.5 (0.131%) 
No. 11-2 28.715% 6 years 72.5 (0.071%) 
No. 12-1 23.632% 3 years 77.5 (0.197%) 
No. 12-2 26.672% 6 years 77.5 (0.203%) 
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17.  Stock-Based Compensation Plan (continued) 
 
The expected volatility is determined based on the historical volatility of the Company’s 
common stock price over the most recent period corresponding with the estimated expected 
remaining life of the Company’s stock acquisition rights. The expected remaining life of 
No. 3-1 Stock Acquisition Rights, No. 4-1 Stock Acquisition Rights, No. 5-1 Stock 
Acquisition Rights, No. 6-1 Stock Acquisition Rights, No. 7-1 Stock Acquisition Rights, 
No. 8-1 Stock Acquisition Rights and No. 9-1 Stock Acquisition Rights was determined as 
one year based on the minimum term of Directors and Executive Officers of the Company 
and FUJIFILM Corporation. The expected remaining life of No. 10-1 Stock Acquisition 
Rights, No. 11-1 Stock Acquisition Rights and No. 12-1 Stock Acquisition Rights was 
determined as the years reflecting the actual term of the year before the grant date. The 
expected remaining life of No. 3-2 Stock Acquisition Rights, No. 4-2 Stock Acquisition 
Rights, No. 5-2 Stock Acquisition Rights, No. 6-2 Stock Acquisition Rights, No. 7-2 Stock 
Acquisition Rights, No. 8-2 Stock Acquisition Rights, No. 9-2 Stock Acquisition Rights, 
No. 10-2 Stock Acquisition Rights, No. 11-2 Stock Acquisition Rights and No. 12-2 Stock 
Acquisition Rights was determined as 6 years based on the midpoint of the period for 
exercising the stock acquisition rights. 
 
18.  Derivatives 
 
The Company operates internationally, and is exposed to market risks arising from fluctuations 
in foreign currencies, interest rates and certain commodity prices. The Company utilizes 
derivative financial instruments solely to reduce these risks. 
 
The Company has established risk management policies for approval, reporting and 
monitoring of derivative financial instruments. The risk management policies prohibit the 
Company from holding or issuing derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The 
following is a summary of the Company’s risk management policies and impact on these 
strategies on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
Cash Flow Hedges 
 
The Company has entered into interest rate swap contracts to reduce the risks of 
fluctuations in interest rates pertaining to variable interest rate loans, and cross currency 
interest rate swap contracts to reduce the risks of fluctuations in interest rates and foreign 
currency exchange rates pertaining to loans denominated in foreign currencies. In addition, 
certain subsidiaries of the Company have entered into forward currency exchange contracts 
to reduce the risks of fluctuations in foreign currencies pertaining to forecasted import 
purchases and export sales from/to third parties and group companies, and related receivables 
and payables denominated in foreign currencies. If the Japanese yen weakens significantly 
against foreign currencies (primarily the U.S. dollar), the increase in the cash flows caused 
by increases of value in future foreign currency is offset by gains or losses in the value of 
the forward exchange contracts designated as hedges. Conversely, if the Japanese yen 
strengthens, the decrease in the cash flows caused by decreases of value in future foreign 
currency is offset by gains or losses in the value of the forward contracts designated as 
hedges.  
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18.  Derivatives (continued) 
 
Cash Flow Hedges (continued) 
 
Changes in the fair value of those derivative instruments designated or qualified as cash 
flow hedges are reported in “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)”, net of 
applicable taxes, in the consolidated balance sheets. These amounts are reclassified into 
earnings in the same period during which the hedged items affect earnings. 
 
As of March 31, 2020, the Company expects to reclassify ¥162 million ($1,486 thousand) 
of unrealized losses on derivatives (before tax effect) from accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) to earnings during the next twelve months. 
 
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges 
 
Certain subsidiaries of the Company have entered into forward currency exchange contracts 
or currency swap contracts to reduce the risks of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange 
pertaining to forecasted transactions, and related receivables and payables denominated in 
foreign currencies. In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Company have entered into 
interest rate swap contracts to reduce the risks of fluctuations in interest rate of variable 
interest rate liabilities, and cross currency interest rate swap contracts to reduce the risks of 
fluctuations in interest and foreign currency exchange rates pertaining to loans denominated 
in foreign currencies. Although these derivatives are effective as hedges from an economic 
perspective, certain subsidiaries of the Company do not designate these contracts as hedges 
as required in order to apply hedge accounting. As a result, changes in the fair value of 
these derivatives are recorded in earnings immediately. 
 
Volume of Derivative Activities 
 
Notional amounts of forward currency exchange contracts, currency swaps, cross currency 
interest rate swaps, interest rate swaps and other contracts as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 
are summarized as follows: 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Forward currency exchange contracts (short) ¥75,797 ¥ 76,505 $695,385 
Forward currency exchange contracts (long) 42,319 47,045 388,248 
Currency swaps 29,870 56,900 274,037 
Cross currency interest rate swaps 13,321 13,585 122,211 
Interest rate swaps 88,550 113,661 812,385 
Other 30,903 36,087 283,514 
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18.  Derivatives (continued) 
 
Impacts on the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

The locations and amounts of fair values of derivatives in the consolidated balance sheets 
as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 are summarized as follows: 
 
 Derivative assets 
 Balance sheet location Fair value 
  2020 2019 2020 
  (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments    
Forward currency exchange contracts Prepaid expenses and other  ¥  1,235 ¥  418 $11,330 
Cross currency interest rate swaps Other long-term receivables 446 821 4,092 
Total  1,681 1,239 15,422 

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments    
Forward currency exchange contracts Prepaid expenses and other  544 75 4,991 
Currency swaps Prepaid expenses and other  4,344 562 39,853 
Currency swaps Other long-term receivables – 678 – 
Other Prepaid expenses and other  1 1,152 9 
Other Other long-term receivables – 519 – 
Total  4,889 2,986 44,853 

Total derivative assets  ¥  6,570 ¥4,225 $60,275 

 
 Derivative liabilities 
 Balance sheet location Fair value 
  2020 2019 2020 
  (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments    
Forward currency exchange contracts Other current liabilities ¥   254 ¥   475 $  2,330 
Interest rate swaps Other current liabilities 254 77 2,330 
Interest rate swaps Other non-current liabilities 582 1,417 5,340 
Total  1,090 1,969 10,000 

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments    
Forward currency exchange contracts Other current liabilities 43 89 394 
Forward currency exchange contracts Other non-current liabilities 75 – 688 
Currency swaps Other current liabilities 24 59 220 
Currency swaps Other non-current liabilities 54 68 495 
Interest rate swaps Other current liabilities 26 67 239 
Interest rate swaps Other non-current liabilities 331 104 3,037 
Other Other current liabilities 1,679 1,653 15,404 
Other Other non-current liabilities 1,903 181 17,459 
Total  4,135 2,221 37,936 

Total derivative liabilities  ¥5,225 ¥4,190 $47,936 
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18.  Derivatives (continued) 
 
Impacts on the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
The location and amounts of gains and losses related to derivatives recorded in the 
consolidated statements of income for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are 
summarized as follows: 
 
Cash Flow Hedges 2020 
 Gains (losses) 

recognized in 
accumulated OCI on 

derivatives 
(Effective portion) 

Gains (losses) reclassified from 
accumulated OCI into earnings 

(Effective portion) 

 Amount 
Statements of 

income location Amount 
 (Millions of yen) 

Forward currency 
exchange contracts 

 
¥1,370 

Foreign exchange 
gains (losses), net 

 
¥1,412 

Cross currency interest 
rate swaps 

 
(107) 

 
– 

 
– 

Interest rate swaps – Other, net (356) 
Total ¥1,263  ¥1,056 

 
Cash Flow Hedges 2019 
 Gains (losses) 

recognized in 
accumulated OCI on 

derivatives 
(Effective portion) 

Gains (losses) reclassified from 
accumulated OCI into earnings 

(Effective portion) 

Amounts recognized in 
earnings (Ineffective hedge 

portion or portions excluded 
from effectiveness assessment) 

 Amount 
Statements of 

income location Amount 
Statements of 

income location Amount 
 (Millions of yen) 

Forward currency 
exchange contracts 

 
¥1,871 

Foreign exchange 
gains (losses), net 

 
¥1,997 

 
– 

 
¥  – 

Cross currency interest 
rate swaps 

 
(123) 

 
– 

 
– 

 
– 

 
– 

Interest rate swaps – Other, net (533) Other, net 282 
Total ¥1,748  ¥1,464  ¥282 
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18.  Derivatives (continued) 

 
Impacts on the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 
Cash Flow Hedges 2020 
 Gains (losses) 

recognized in 
accumulated OCI on 

derivatives 
(Effective portion) 

 
 

Gains (losses) reclassified from 
accumulated OCI into earnings 

(Effective portion) 

 Amount 
Statements of 

income location Amount 
 (Thousands of U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 

Forward currency 
exchange contracts 

 
$12,569 

Foreign exchange 
gains (losses), net 

 
$12,954 

Cross currency interest 
rate swaps 

 
(982) – 

 
– 

Interest rate swaps – Other, net (3,266) 
Total $11,587  $9,668 

 
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges 
 

Statements of 
income location Amount 

  2020 2019 2020 
  (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Forward currency exchange contracts Foreign exchange 
gains (losses), net 

 
¥ (240) 

 
¥ (410) 

 
$ (2,202) 

Currency swaps Foreign exchange 
gains (losses), net 

 
8,026 

 
1,180 

 
73,633 

Cross currency interest rate swaps Foreign exchange 
gains (losses), net 

 
– 

 
18 

 
– 

Interest rate swaps Other, net 84 169 771 
Other Other, net (4,059) 349 (37,239) 
Total  ¥3,811 ¥1,306 $34,963 
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19. Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
The fair value of financial instruments has been determined using available market 
information or other appropriate valuation methodologies. Although management uses its 
best judgment in estimating the fair value of such instruments, the methodologies and 
assumptions for the estimate of fair value are inherently subjective. Consequently, the 
estimated amounts are not necessarily indicative of the amounts which could be realized or 
would be paid in a current market exchange. The following methodologies and assumptions 
are used in estimating the fair value of its financial instruments: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents, Notes and accounts receivable, Short-term debt, Notes 
and accounts payable: The carrying amounts approximate the fair values because of 
the short maturity of these instruments. 
 
Investment securities: The fair values of stocks with active markets are estimated 
based on quoted market prices. Debt securities with inactive markets are measured by 
using observable inputs, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Long-term debt: The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on quoted market 
prices or using discounted cash flow analysis based on the current incremental 
borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. The fair values and the 
corresponding carrying amounts of long-term debt, including the current portion, were 
¥568,821 million ($5,218,541 thousand) and ¥568,035 million ($5,211,330 thousand), 
respectively, as of March 31, 2020 and ¥518,703 million and ¥516,377 million, 
respectively, as of March 31, 2019. 
 
The fair values of long-term debt as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 were classified as 
Level 2. The fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in valuation 
techniques is described in Note 20 “Fair Value Measurement”. 
 
Derivative financial instruments: The fair values of forward currency exchange 
contracts, currency swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps and interest rate swaps 
are estimated based on the market prices obtained from financial institutions or third 
parties, which are measured by observable inputs. The fair values and the carrying 
amounts of these derivative assets were ¥6,570 million ($60,275 thousand) and 
¥4,225 million, and those of derivative liabilities were ¥5,225 million ($47,936 
thousand) and ¥4,190 million, as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
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19. Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Concentration of Credit Risk (continued) 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of 
credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, investment securities, trade 
accounts receivable and lease receivables, and derivatives. 
 
The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents with various financial institutions. The 
Company’s policy is to not concentrate risks with any one financial institution. The 
Company periodically performs credit evaluations of those financial institutions. 
 
Investment securities are exposed to risks such as fluctuations in market prices, but the 
Company periodically reviews market values and the financial positions of the issuers and 
performs ongoing evaluations of holdings. 
 
Trade receivables and lease receivables are exposed to credit risks because they include the 
trade receivables and lease receivables from certain major customers. However, the 
Company manages this risk by maintenance of customer’s guarantee deposits and ongoing 
performance of credit evaluations. An allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained at a 
level which the Company believes is sufficient to cover potential losses. 
 
Regarding derivatives, the Company assumes the risk that might arise from the possible 
inability of counterparties to meet the terms of their contracts. The Company conducts such 
derivative transactions with high credit quality financial institutions to reduce risks. 
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20.  Fair Value Measurement 
 
ASC 820 “Fair value measurement” defines fair value as the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants, establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in valuation 
techniques into the following three levels, depending on the observability of those inputs: 
 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. 

Level 2: Observable inputs other than those classified as Level 1 such as quoted prices 
for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets with insufficient volume 
or infrequent transactions (inactive markets); or model-derived valuations in 
which all significant inputs are observable or can be derived principally from or 
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the 
assets or liabilities. 

Level 3: Unobservable inputs to the valuation techniques which are significant to the 
measurement of fair value of assets or liabilities. 

 
Assets and liabilities that the Company measures at fair value on a recurring basis include 
cash equivalents, investment securities, derivative assets and liabilities, and contingent 
consideration. The fair value hierarchy as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
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20.  Fair Value Measurement (continued) 
 
 2020 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 (Millions of yen) 
Assets:     

Investment securities     
Corporate debt securities ¥     – ¥501 ¥    – ¥501 
Stocks 74,069 – – 74,069 
Investment trusts, etc. – – 3,951 3,951 

Short-term derivative assets     
Forward currency exchange contracts – 1,779 – 1,779 
Currency swaps – 4,344 – 4,344 
Other – 1 – 1 

Long-term derivative assets     
Cross currency interest rate swaps – 446 – 446 

Other long-term receivables     
Contingent consideration – – 2,982 2,982 

Liabilities:     
Short-term derivative liabilities     

Forward currency exchange contracts – 297 – 297 
Currency swaps – 24 – 24 
Interest rate swaps – 280 – 280 
Other – 1,679 – 1,679 

Long-term derivative liabilities     
Forward currency exchange contracts – 75 – 75 
Currency swaps – 54 – 54 
Interest rate swaps – 913 – 913 
Other – 1,903 – 1,903 

Other non-current liabilities     
Contingent consideration – – 3,223 3,223 
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20.  Fair Value Measurement (continued) 
 
 2019 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 (Millions of yen) 
Assets:     

Cash equivalents ¥     – ¥233,801 ¥    – ¥233,801 
Investment securities     

Corporate debt securities – 566 – 566 
Stocks 94,695 – – 94,695 
Investment trusts, etc. – – 3,274 3,274 

Short-term derivative assets     
Forward currency exchange contracts – 493 – 493 
Currency swaps – 562 – 562 
Other – 1,152 – 1,152 

Long-term derivative assets     
Currency swaps – 678 – 678 
Cross currency interest rate swaps – 821 – 821 
Other – 519 – 519 

Liabilities:     
Short-term derivative liabilities     

Forward currency exchange contracts – 564 – 564 
Currency swaps – 59 – 59 
Interest rate swaps – 144 – 144 
Other – 1,653 – 1,653 

Long-term derivative liabilities     
Currency swaps – 68 – 68 
Interest rate swaps – 1,521 – 1,521 
Other – 181 – 181 
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20.  Fair Value Measurement (continued) 
 
 2020 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 (Thousands of U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Assets:     

Investment securities     
Corporate debt securities $      – $ 4,596 $    – $  4,596 
Stocks 679,532 – – 679,532 
Investment trusts, etc. – – 36,248 36,248 

Short-term derivative assets     
Forward currency exchange contracts – 16,321 – 16,321 
Currency swaps – 39,853 – 39,853 
Other – 9 – 9 

Long-term derivative assets     
Cross currency interest rate swaps – 4,092 – 4,092 

Other long-term receivables     
Contingent consideration – – 27,358 27,358 

Liabilities:     
Short-term derivative liabilities     

Forward currency exchange contracts – 2,725 – 2,725 
Currency swaps – 220 – 220 
Interest rate swaps – 2,569 – 2,569 
Other – 15,404 – 15,404 

Long-term derivative liabilities     
Forward currency exchange contracts – 688 – 688 
Currency swaps – 495 – 495 
Interest rate swaps – 8,376 – 8,376 
Other – 17,459 – 17,459 

Other non-current liabilities     
Contingent consideration – – 29,569 29,569 

 
Assets classified as Level 1 consist principally of listed stocks, which were valued using 
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Assets and liabilities 
classified as Level 2 consist principally of negotiable certificates of deposit and derivatives. 
Negotiable certificates of deposits were valued based on market approach using directly or 
indirectly observable inputs in inactive markets. Derivative assets and liabilities were 
classified as Level 2 because they were valued based on market approach using inputs that 
were corroborated by observable market data obtained from financial institutions or third 
parties. Assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 consist principally of investment funds 
and assets and liabilities for contingent consideration, which were valued using 
unobservable inputs that were significant to the measurement of their value.  
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20.  Fair Value Measurement (continued) 
 
Changes in assets and liabilities classified as the fair value hierarchy Level 3 for the years 
ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Assets    
Balance, as of April 1 ¥3,274 ¥2,211 $30,037 

Gains or losses    
Net income (Note 1) (614) 410 (5,633) 

Purchases 594 865 5,450 
Disposal and settlements (462) (212) (4,239) 
Business combinations (Note 2) 4,141 – 37,991 

Balance, as of March 31 ¥6,933 ¥3,274 $63,606 
    
Liabilities    
Balance, as of April 1 ¥       – ¥– $       – 

Gains or losses    
Net income (Note 1) (809) – (7,422) 

Business combinations (Note 2) 4,032 – 36,991 
Balance, as of March 31 ¥3,223 ¥– $29,569 
 
(Note 1) Gains or losses recognized in net income are mainly presented in “Selling, 

general and administrative” or “Other, net” in the consolidated statements of 
income. Those gains or losses related to assets and liabilities held by the 
Company at the end of year were ¥195million ($1,789thousand) and ¥410 
million for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

(Note 2) The figures are assets and liabilities recognized by setting contingent 
consideration as part of the consideration for a business combination.  

 
For the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
on a nonrecurring basis were not material. 
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21.  Finance Receivables 
 
Finance Receivables and Allowance for Doubtful Finance Receivables 
 
Finance receivables are evaluated individually or collectively, based on the financial 
positions of its customers and delays in payment. For collectively evaluated financing 
receivables, the allowance is determined by using percentages based on historical losses, 
whereas for individually evaluated financing receivables, the allowance is determined by 
using percentages based on the financial positions of individual customer. The credit 
quality of finance receivables is reviewed every quarter based on the financial positions of 
customers and delays in payment. Where the Company estimates that the credit quality of a 
particular receivable has decreased significantly, an allowance is individually recorded. 
Finance receivables are charged-off when it becomes clear that the finance receivables will 
be uncollectable according to a decision of court.  
 
The following table provides the roll-forward of allowance for doubtful finance receivable 
(excluding trade accounts receivable due within one year) for the years ended March 31, 
2020 and 2019, and the breakdown of balances as of March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Allowance for doubtful finance receivables:    
Balance, as of April 1 ¥(10,735) ¥(10,756) $(98,486) 

Charge-offs 2,036 3,335 18,679 
Provisions (1,807) (3,662) (16,578) 
Other 499 348 4,578 

Balance, as of March 31 ¥(10,007) ¥(10,735) $(91,807) 
Ending balance: individually evaluated for impairment (7,562) (7,332) (69,376) 
Ending balance: collectively evaluated for impairment (2,445) (3,403) (22,431) 

 
Other includes foreign currency translation adjustments. 
 
The following table provides information about finance receivables, excluding trade 
accounts receivable due within one year, as of March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
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21.  Finance Receivables (continued) 
 
Finance Receivables and Allowance for Doubtful Finance Receivables (continued) 
 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Finance receivables:    
Balance, as of March 31 ¥117,143 ¥132,046 $1,074,706  

Ending balance: individually evaluated for impairment 7,562 7,408 69,376  
Ending balance: collectively evaluated for impairment 109,581 124,638 1,005,330  

 
There were no significant purchases or sales in finance receivables occurred during the year 
ended March 31, 2020. 
 
Past Due Finance Receivables 
 
The following table provides past due finance receivables, excluding trade accounts 
receivable due within one year, as of March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 

 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

31-90 days ¥1,173 ¥1,507 $10,761 
Greater than 90 days 6,176 8,176 56,661 
Total ¥7,349 ¥9,683 $67,422 
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22.  Revenue 
 
If a contract with a customer includes multiple performance obligations, the transaction 
price of multiple contracts will be allocated based on the standalone selling price of each 
individually sold product (if the standalone selling price is not directly observable, then it 
will be based on an assumed selling price when sold individually). 
 
Costs incurred by the Company in connection with sales incentives related to purchase or 
promotion of the Company’s products are classified as reduction of revenue. Such costs 
include the estimated cost of promotional discounts, dealer volume rebates and cash 
discounts. These costs are mainly based on claims from customers / dealers or amount 
calculated in accordance with agreements to the extent that there is likely to be no 
significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized. 
 
Contracts that are expected, at the start of contracts, to be fulfilled within one year from 
when the Company transfers the promised goods or services to the customer to the time at 
which the customer issues payment for these goods or services do not include the effect of 
the time value of money in the promised compensation. 
 
Revenue Recognized from Contracts with Customers and Other Sources 
 
 2020 2019 2020 

 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 

Revenue recognized from contracts with 
customers ¥2,252,614 ¥2,382,503 $20,666,184 

Revenue recognized from other sources 62,527 48,986 573,642 
Total ¥2,315,141 ¥2,431,489 $21,239,826 
 
Revenue recognized from other sources is revenue recognized from lease commitments. 
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22.  Revenue (continued) 
 
Association between revenue breakdown, segment revenue and timing of satisfaction of 
performance obligations 
 
The breakdown of revenue by geographic segment, attributed to the locations of the 
external customers, is as follows: 
 2020 2019 2020 

 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Japan ¥1,004,076 ¥1,006,536 $  9,211,707 
The Americas 424,257 463,394 3,892,266 
Europe 296,623 315,667 2,721,312 
Asia and others 590,185 645,892 5,414,541 

Revenue total ¥2,315,141 ¥2,431,489 $21,239,826 

 
The breakdown of revenue by business segment is as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 2020 

 

(Millions of yen) (Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Imaging Solutions:    

Photo Imaging ¥   228,903 ¥   257,508 $  2,100,027 
Electronic Imaging 72,005 90,611 660,596 
Optical Devices 31,695 38,795 290,780 

Healthcare & Material Solutions:    
Healthcare 504,134 484,134 4,625,083 
Display Materials 85,500 98,233 784,404 
Industrial Products/Electronic 
Materials/Fine Chemicals 177,888 179,764 1,632,000 

Recording Media 41,865 38,827 384,083 
Graphic Systems/Inkjet 213,569 236,770 1,959,349 
Other 1,253 1,238 11,495 

Document Solutions:    
Office Products & Printers 532,124 569,077 4,881,871 
Production Services 116,045 123,324 1,064,633 
Solution & Services 273,527 261,171 2,509,422 
Other 36,633 52,037 336,083 

Revenue total ¥2,315,141 ¥2,431,489 $21,239,826 
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22.  Revenue (continued) 
 
Association between revenue breakdown, segment revenue and timing of satisfaction of 
performance obligations (continued) 
 
The performance obligations of the Company are divided into three major categories: 
consumer products and industrial products, equipment requiring installation, and services. 
 
The Company’s association with each segment is as follows: 
 
The Company sells color films, digital cameras, color paper for photo printing, and instant 
photo systems in “Imaging Solutions” and materials for medical systems such as X-ray 
films, pharmaceuticals, materials for graphic systems such as CTP plates, display materials 
such as protective films for polarizers, recording media such as magnetic tapes for 
computers, and electronic materials such as semiconductor processing materials in 
“Healthcare & Material Solutions”. The Company sells these products as consumer 
products and industrial products. Revenue from these products is recognized when goods 
are delivered or shipped to customers, depending on the timing of title and risk transfer.  
 
The Company mainly sells certain equipment which requires customer acceptance 
including materials and equipment for medical systems such as digital endoscopes and 
ultrasound imaging and diagnostic system, and inkjet equipment such as Inkjet Digital 
Presses in “Healthcare & Material Solutions”, digital multifunction devices, on-demand 
publishing systems, and computer printing systems in “Document Solutions”. Revenue 
from these products is recognized when equipment is installed and customer acceptance is 
obtained.  
 
The Company mainly provides services for photo printing in “Imaging Solutions”, 
maintenance services for materials and equipment for medical systems in “Healthcare & 
Material Solutions”, and managed print services and business process outsourcing in 
“Document Solutions”. The Company provides these offerings as services. Revenue from 
these services is recognized when the services are provided to customers. 
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22.  Revenue (continued) 
 
Contract Balance 
 
The breakdown of contract balances as of April 1, 2019 and as of March 31, 2020 is as 
follows. 
 
 As of April 1, 2019 As of March 31, 2020 
  

(Millions of  
yen) 

 
(Millions of 

yen) 

(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 

Receivables from 
contracts with customers ¥478,486 ¥422,405 $3,875,275 

Contract liabilities 43,867 48,393 443,972 
 
Revenue recognized from the satisfaction (or partial satisfaction) of performance 
obligations in past periods was not material for the year ended March 31, 2020. 
 
Primary changes in contract liabilities for the year ended March 31, 2020 are as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 2020 

 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Revenue recognized that was included in 

contract liability balance at beginning of 
year ¥30,523 ¥26,585 $280,028 

Increase due to receipt of cash, excluding 
revenue recognized during year 37,506 32,263 344,092 

 
Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations 
 
As of March 31, 2020, the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance 
obligations for contracts with an individual estimated contract period exceeding one year is 
¥133,842 million ($1,227,908 thousand). This transaction price primarily relates to 
maintenance service contracts for equipment sold to customers. This transaction price is 
expected to be recognized as revenue over a period of approximately one to five years. In 
addition, the relevant disclosure is omitted for contracts with an individual estimated 
contract period of less than one year. 
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22.  Revenue (continued) 
 
Identifiable assets acquired from the cost of acquiring or fulfilling a contract with a 
customer 
 
The Company identifies the portion which is expected to be recoverable of the incremental 
cost to obtain a contract with a customer and fulfillment cost directly related to the contract 
as an acquired asset and records it in “Prepaid expenses and other” under current assets and 
“Other” under other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. 
 
Costs for contract fulfillment capitalized by the Company include expenses for surveys 
performed to optimize overall print environments of printer devices for offices which are 
conducted before providing outsourcing services, including maintenance, for printing 
devices within offices in the Document Solutions business. These assets are amortized 
equally over a period of one to ten years based on the estimated contract period. In addition, 
when the amortization period of the asset to be identified is within one year, practical 
expedients are applied and the incremental cost of the contract is expensed as incurred. 
 
 As of April 1, 2019 As of March 31, 2020 
  

(Millions of 
yen) 

 
(Millions of 

yen) 

(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 

Identifiable assets 
acquired from cost of 
contract acquisition 

 
¥   20 

 
¥   11 

 
$   101 

Identifiable assets 
acquired from cost of 
contract fulfillment 

 
3,291 

 
2,925 

 
26,835 

Total ¥3,311 ¥2,936 $26,936 
 
Aggregate amortization expenses for identifiable assets acquired from the cost of contract 
for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 were ¥1,471 million ($13,495 thousand) and 
¥1,455 million, respectively. 
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23.  Acquisitions 
 
In order to further expand the contract development and manufacturing business for 
biopharmaceuticals, FUJIFILM Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, 
acquired BIOGEN (DENMARK) MANUFACTURING ApS, a manufacturing subsidiary 
of a major biopharmaceutical company Biogen Inc., making this company a wholly owned 
subsidiary on August 1, 2019. All of the issued shares were acquired with cash. 
The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date. 
 
 BIOGEN (DENMARK) 

MANUFACTURING ApS 
  

(Millions of yen) 
(Thousands of U.S. dollars) 

 (Note 3) 

Fair value of the consideration paid   
Cash  ¥96,246 $882,991 
Contingent consideration (109) (1,000) 
Total ¥96,137 $881,991 

Net assets acquired   
Current assets ¥  4,552 $  41,762 
Property, plant and equipment 73,875 677,752 
Goodwill 24,954 228,936 
Investments and other assets 237 2,174 
Current liabilities 3,440 31,560 
Non-current liabilities 4,041 37,073 
Total ¥96,137 $881,991 

 
The goodwill allocated to the Healthcare & Material Solutions segment is attributable 
primarily to expected future growth and synergies with existing businesses and is not 
deductible for tax purposes. 
 
Contingent consideration of this business combination is determined based on a contract to 
receive or pay additional consideration according to the volume of orders received from a 
specified customer after the acquisition date. There is a possibility that the Company may 
receive or pay a maximum of $120 million or $183 million, respectively, in the future. The 
fair value of the contingent consideration is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation. 
 
The acquisition related costs are recorded in “Selling, general and administrative” in the 
consolidated statements of income. The amounts are not significant. 
 
The results of operations for the acquired businesses since the acquisition date have been 
included in the consolidated statements of income. The amounts are not significant.  
 
The effect on the revenue and net income attributable to FUJIFILM Holdings assuming that 
the acquisition would have been completed on April 1, 2018, would not be significant. 
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24.  Structural Reform Expenses 
 
As the market environment surrounding Fuji Xerox Co., Ltd, the Company’s subsidiary, 
has grown increasingly severe, the Group has implemented a structural reform in order to 
win out through the competition going forward and realize further business growth. 
 
In the Document Solutions business, a special outside career change support program was 
implemented to pay allowances for supporting the employees who applied for outside 
career change, arising from the change in the working environment due to the organization 
restructuring. As a result, early retirement incentive allowance expenses are recorded. Also, 
expenses from the accelerated depreciation of plant, property and equipment, etc., for 
existing locations are recorded. 
 
The structural reform expenses incurred in the year ended March 31, 2020 amounting to 
¥3,738 million ($34,294 thousand) are recorded in “Cost of sales” and “Selling, general and 
administrative” in the consolidated statements of income. 
 
The structural reform expenses incurred in the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2019 
consist of personnel related expenses of ¥42,666 million and non-current assets related 
expenses of ¥1,678 million. They are recorded in “Cost of sales”, “Selling, general and 
administrative” and “Research and development” in the consolidated statements of income. 
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24.  Structural Reform Expenses (continued) 
 
Expenses and liabilities for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

 2020 and 2019 
  

Personnel 
related expenses 

Non-current 
assets related 

expenses Total 
 (Millions of yen) 

Liabilities as of April 1, 2018 ¥ 36,913 ¥    – ¥ 36,913 
Total expenses 4,679 1,678 6,357 
Non-cash expenses – (1,678) (1,678) 
Payments (37,704) – (37,704) 
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments 
 

2 
 

– 
 

2 
Liabilities as of March 31, 2019 ¥  3,890 ¥    – ¥  3,890 
Total expenses 3,575 163 3,738 
Non-cash expenses – (163) (163) 
Payments (7,449) – (7,449) 
Liabilities as of March 31, 2020 ¥        16 ¥    – ¥       16 
 
 2020 
  

Personnel 
related expenses 

Non-current 
assets related 

expenses Total 
 (Thousands of U.S. dollars) 

(Note 3) 
Liabilities as of March 31, 2019 $  35,688 $    – $  35,688 
Total expenses 32,798 1,495 34,293 
Non-cash expenses – (1,495) (1,495) 
Payments (68,339) – (68,339) 
Liabilities as of March 31, 2020 $        147 $     – $       147 
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25.  Segment Information 
 
Operating Segments 
 
The Company has three operating segments. The Company’s operating segments reflect 
how management reviews operating results and makes decisions about allocation of 
resources, and are determined based upon similarity in manufacturing technology, 
manufacturing processes, distribution methods and markets. “Imaging Solutions” develops, 
manufactures, sells and provides services of color films, digital cameras, color paper, 
services and equipment for photofinishing, instant photo systems, optical devices, and other 
related products, primarily for individual consumers. “Healthcare & Material Solutions” 
develops, manufactures, sells and provides services of materials and equipment for medical 
systems, cosmetics and supplement products, pharmaceuticals, entrusted biopharmaceutical 
manufacturing and development services, regenerative medicines, chemical products, 
materials and equipment for graphic systems, inject materials and equipment, display 
materials, recording media, electronic materials, and other related products, primarily for 
commercial enterprises. “Document Solutions” develops, manufactures, sells and provides 
services of digital multifunction devices, publishing systems, document management 
software and related solution services, and other related products, primarily for commercial 
enterprises. 
 
a. Revenue 
 Year ended March 31 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Imaging Solutions:    
External customers ¥   332,603 ¥   386,914 $  3,051,404 
Intersegment 2,202 2,160 20,202 
Total 334,805 389,074 3,071,606 

Healthcare & Material Solutions:    
External customers 1,024,209 1,038,966 9,396,413 
Intersegment 1,891 1,559 17,348 
Total 1,026,100 1,040,525 9,413,761 

Document Solutions:    
External customers 958,329 1,005,609 8,792,009 
Intersegment 11,679 9,177 107,147 
Total 970,008 1,014,786 8,899,156 

Eliminations (15,772) (12,896) (144,697) 
Consolidated total ¥2,315,141 ¥2,431,489 $21,239,826 
 



FUJIFILM Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
 

83 

25.  Segment Information (continued) 
 
Operating Segments (continued) 
 
b. Segment profit or loss 
 Year ended March 31 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. 

dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Operating income:    
Imaging Solutions ¥  25,076 ¥  51,128 $   230,055 
Healthcare & Material Solutions 92,402 97,579 847,725 
Document Solutions 105,045 96,366 963,715 
Total 222,523 245,073 2,041,495 

Corporate expenses and eliminations (35,953) (35,246) (329,844) 
Consolidated operating income 186,570 209,827 1,711,651 
Other income, net (13,499) 2,935 (123,844) 
Consolidated income before income 

taxes ¥173,071 ¥212,762 $1,587,807 
 
c. Total assets 
 March 31 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of U.S. 

dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Total assets:    
Imaging Solutions ¥   294,243 ¥   325,337 $   2,699,477 
Healthcare & Material Solutions 1,775,913 1,709,713 16,292,780 
Document Solutions 991,861 1,014,304 9,099,642 
Total 3,062,017 3,049,354 28,091,899 

Eliminations (4,090) (4,161) (37,523) 
Corporate assets 263,765 369,499 2,419,863 
Consolidated total ¥3,321,692 ¥3,414,692 $30,474,239 
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25.  Segment Information (continued) 
 
Operating Segments (continued) 
 
d. Other significant items 
 Year ended March 31 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Depreciation and amortization:    
Imaging Solutions ¥  14,592 ¥  14,060 $   133,872 
Healthcare & Material Solutions 63,881 63,093 586,064 
Document Solutions 41,750 50,137 383,027 
Total 120,223 127,290 1,102,963 

Corporate expenses 2,430 2,642 22,294 
Consolidated total ¥122,653 ¥129,932 $1,125,257 

Capital expenditures:    
Imaging Solutions ¥12,496 ¥10,579 $   114,642 
Healthcare & Material Solutions 58,223 50,523 534,156 
Document Solutions 13,406 11,672 122,991 
Total 84,125 72,774 771,789 

Corporate expenses 1,567 2,598 14,376 
Consolidated total ¥85,692 ¥75,372 $   786,165 
 
Transfers between operating segments are generally based on market price. Corporate 
expenses in “b. Segment profit or loss”, are those expenses related to the Corporate 
Division of the Company. Corporate assets in “c. Total assets”, consist primarily of cash 
and cash equivalents as well as investment securities held for general corporate-wide 
purposes. Corporate expenses, in the “d. Other significant items”, relate to facilities and 
equipment held by the Company for company-wide purposes. Capital expenditures in the 
above table represent the purchase amount of property, plant and equipment (on 
goods-receipt basis) by each segment. 
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25.  Segment Information (continued) 
 
Geographic Segments Information 
 
a. Revenue 
 
Revenue from external customers, which are attributed to the location of the customers, for 
the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 
 Year ended March 31 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Japan ¥1,004,076 ¥1,006,536 $  9,211,707 
The Americas 424,257 463,394 3,892,266 
Europe 296,623 315,667 2,721,312 
Asia and others 590,185 645,892 5,414,541 
Consolidated total ¥2,315,141 ¥2,431,489 $21,239,826 

 
Revenue of The Americas is primarily related to operations in the United States. 
 
b. Long-lived assets 
 
Long-lived assets as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 
 March 31 
 2020 2019 2020 
 (Millions of yen) (Thousands of 

U.S. dollars) 
(Note 3) 

Japan ¥375,783 ¥373,513 $3,447,551 
The Americas 73,922 67,318 678,184 
Europe 103,964 34,772 953,798 
Asia and others 46,878 51,194 430,073 
Consolidated total ¥600,547 ¥526,797 $5,509,606 

 
Long-lived assets of The Americas are primarily related to operations in the United States. 
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25.  Segment Information (continued) 
 
Major Customers and Other Information 
 
No single customer of the Company accounted for more than 10% of consolidated revenue 
for each of the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 
The Company through its Document Solutions segment sold certain copying machines for 
offices, other equipment and consumable supplies to a noncontrolling interest and also 
purchased inventories from the noncontrolling interest. The sales amounts were ¥81,467 
million ($747,404 thousand) and ¥159,403 million, and the purchase amounts were ¥2,056 
million ($18,862 thousand) and ¥4,697 million for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. 
 
In conjunction with a license agreement and other arrangements between the Company 
through its Document Solutions segment and the noncontrolling interest, certain expenses 
which primarily relate to royalty and research expenses, amounting to ¥7,182 million 
($65,890 thousand) and ¥14,804 million, were recorded for the years ended March 31, 2020 
and 2019, respectively. 
 
Notes and accounts receivable from the noncontrolling interest as of March 31, 2019 were 
¥39,685 million. Notes and accounts payable to the noncontrolling interest as of March 31, 
2019 were ¥4,246 million. 
 
The Company acquired all shares of Fuji Xerox Co., Ltd. owned by Xerox Corporation 
with the purchase price of ¥239,633 million ($2,198,468 thousand) and made it a wholly 
owned subsidiary as of November 8, 2019. Consequently, this company is no longer a 
noncontrolling interest as of such date. The amount of transactions performed during the 
period in which this company was a noncontrolling interest is shown for the year ended 
March 31, 2020. 
 
26.  Subsequent Event 
 
The Company resolved at its Board of Directors meeting held on June 9, 2020 to make a 
major capital investment in the Denmark site of FUJIFILM Diosynth Biotechnologies, a 
leading contract development and manufacturing organization (CDMO) for biologics and 
advanced therapies, for the purpose of accelerating expansion of the biologics development 
and licensed manufacturing business. The investment of approximately ¥100,000 million 
($928,000 thousand) is planned to be used to vastly boost the biologics manufacturing 
equipment, including an expansion of production lines for bulk drug substances and 
establishment of new pharmaceutical formulation lines. 
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